

# The co-production of research between academics, NGOs and communities in humanitarian response:

# A practice guide





#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to the interview participants who shared their expertise, knowledge, and critical reflections on their experiences of co-producing research and being involved in academic-NGO-community research partnerships.

We are also grateful to the following reviewers for their helpful inputs and feedback: *Gang Karume Augustin, Suzanne Carter, Niccola Hutchinson-Pascal, Cicely Marston, Emily Oliver, Pallavi Prabhakar, Bayard Roberts, Sarah Singer and Thurayya Zreik.* Thank you also to the interview participants whose case studies are included in this practice guide, to Elizabeth Hoile for editing the report and to Dan Abeledo for designing it.







#### CITATION

This document should be cited as: Lokot M, Wake C. The co-production of research between academics, NGOs and communities in humanitarian response: a practice guide. UK: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine; 2021.

#### AUTHORS

Michelle Lokot & Caitlin Wake

#### FUNDING

This research was conducted as part of RECAP (Research capacity building and knowledge generation to support preparedness and response to humanitarian crises and epidemics) which is funded by UK Research and Innovation as part of the Global Challenges Research Fund, grant number ES/P010873/1; and the GOAL project supported by UK Research and Innovation as part of UKRI Collective Fund Award UKRI GCRF Development-based approaches to protracted displacement, grant number ES/T00424X/1.

#### CORRESPONDENCE

Correspondence about this document should be sent to Michelle Lokot (<u>michelle.lokot@</u> <u>lshtm.ac.uk</u>) or Caitlin Wake (<u>caitlin.wake@</u> <u>lshtm.ac.uk</u>) at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 15–17 Tavistock Place, London WC1H 9SH.

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	05
METHODS	06
STRUCTURE OF THE REPORT	07
SECTION A: WHAT IS CO-PRODUCTION?	08
SECTION B: BENEFITS OF CO-PRODUCTION	11
SECTION C: KEY PRINCIPLES OF CO-PRODUCTION	13
Tackling unequal power dynamics	14
Challenging knowledge production hierarchies	18
Ensuring more equitable partnerships and shared decision-making	19
Emphasising reciprocity	23
Promoting mutual capacity strengthening	26
Ensuring greater reflexivity	28
Enabling flexible ways of interacting and working	29
SECTION D: WHAT DOES CO-PRODUCTION LOOK	
LIKE WITHIN HUMANITARIAN SETTINGS?	31
SECTION E: CHALLENGES OF CO-PRODUCTION	
IN HUMANITARIAN SETTINGS	37
Lack of common understanding of what co-production is	39
Differing roles, responsibilities and timelines of NGO and academic partners	39
Actualising the principles of co-production	39
SECTION F: CO-PRODUCTION ACROSS	
THE RESEARCH PROCESS	41
Identify research topics	41
Define research questions	42

Identify research methods	43
Collect data	46
Analyse data	48
Share findings	50
SECTION G: ADVICE ON HOW TO CO-PRODUCE RESEARCH, FROM PEOPLE WHO HAVE DONE IT	53
Plan the research together from the outset	53
Devote ample time	54
Build trust and be inclusive	54
Recognise capacity and foster capacity strengthening	54
Create a sense of joint ownership	55
Recognise that relationships and process are as important as the product/outcome	55
Embrace the challenges, messiness, and joy of it	55
FURTHER RESOURCES	57
REFERENCES	58

# Introduction

This practice guide explores how to co-produce research, and highlights ways in which the concept of co-production has specific relevance and importance for academics, non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and communities within humanitarian settings.

In recent years, there has been growing focus on the importance of collaborative research and localisation within both humanitarian aid and academia. At the World Humanitarian Summit in 2016. humanitarian actors made commitments to changing how aid is funded and implemented. This included the Grand Bargain, which contained commitments related to providing more support and funding for local organisations, ensuring that people who receive aid can participate in decisions affecting their lives, and ensuring more collaborative planning and funding. Within these localisation and collaboration agendas, debates have focused on key issues including the definitions of local versus international organisations, and the question of whose voices are included and excluded within localisation efforts, 1,2

Alongside these developments around considering the power hierarchies within humanitarian aid, co-production has re-emerged within academic discourses as a means of equalising research partnerships. It is also becoming increasingly important to NGOs, particularly within research processes. Co-production is seen as representing a change in practice: a way of conducting research that challenges dominant approaches to decision making, communication, capacity strengthening and being participatory during research processes. In this guide, we suggest that co-production holds potential for addressing some of the entrenched power hierarchies within research collaborations that have been identified within the humanitarian sector. This guide focuses on academic-NGO-community research partnerships to acknowledge the role NGOs play in delivering humanitarian aid, the recent shifts towards localisation in the humanitarian sector, the emphasis on including communities and service users in research concerning them, and the increasing recognition that power needs to shift from donors and international actors, towards local actors who are often better-placed to implement activities and conduct research.

We suggest that conducting co-produced research within humanitarian settings presents unique added-value as well as challenges that are important for researchers to consider. In humanitarian settings, understanding the local context can be even more challenging given rapid change, short-term funding and operational cycles, multiple actors and political/ social sensitivities, alongside magnified power inequalities. However, the benefits of using co-production principles in these settings can result in more relevant research that bridges the gap between knowledge and action.

We have created this guide to support academics and NGO practitioners in embedding co-production principles when developing new academic-NGO-community research partnerships. Our intention is to provide helpful guidance on what works, insights into challenges, and useful strategies to help structure your research partnerships to better support co-production. We recognise that it may not be possible to implement all the co-production principles fully or immediately, and that using co-production principles is more of a journey than an outcome. This guide is designed to support that journey. It should help you to thoughtfully consider power hierarchies, decision making, communication, capacity strengthening and participatory processes in your research partnerships and equip you with ideas for how to reflect co-production principles within your research.

# **Methods**

This practice guide is based on an extensive literature review on co-production, and 32 semi-structured interviews. It is also informed by the co-authors' experiences working in the humanitarian sector, including conducting research in a wide range of humanitarian settings. While focused on the topic of co-production, this research and the guide itself was not co-produced.

Our **literature review** included academic and grey literature on co-production, including guidance documents, manuals and NGO reports. The review identified a sparse amount of literature on co-production within humanitarian settings, and so in this practice guide, we have sought to apply lessons on co-production from non-humanitarian contexts to the humanitarian sector. The literature on co-production is wide-ranging and continually growing; as this is a practice guide, we have sought to cite only the most relevant literature on coproduction, in order to focus the document on practical ways of operationalising co-production.

For **interviews**, we sought to reach participants who either had direct experience conducting co-produced research, or had been involved in some form of academic-NGO-community research partnership. We prioritised ensuring that participants included a diverse group of academics and practitioners from different geographical locations, as outlined in the table below. We interviewed 32 participants, including 15 academics, 12 NGO practitioners, and five participants who were independent researchers or who worked for consultancy firms or (non-academic) research institutes. Participants had experience conducting research in either humanitarian or non-humanitarian contexts. The NGO practitioners who were interviewed tended to work on programming rather than research specifically. In total, we interviewed 18 women and 14 men. Ethical approval to conduct interviews was received from the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.

Number of interview participants	Europe	North America	Africa	Middle East	Asia	Australia
Academic	9	2	1	2	1	0
International NGO	1	0	1	0	0	0
Local/national NGO	1	0	5	2	2	0
Other (research institutes, social enterprises, independent researchers)	2	1	1	0	0	1

In this guide, we use varied terminology to represent people based on particular features of their identity (e.g. academic/ practitioner, geographical location of their organisation, local actors, gender). We recognise this terminology is sometimes contested and does not always fully represent the multiple overlapping identities people may hold now, or in the past.

# **Structure of the report**

#### This guide is divided into seven main sections:

#### A) What is co-production?

This section explores what we mean by co-production, helping to distil complex definitions and academic debates.

#### B) What are the benefits of co-production?

This section briefly outlines some of the positive outcomes that can result from co-production.

#### C) What are the key principles of co-production?

This section details the seven principles of co-production identified in the literature and from interviews.

## D) How does co-production relate to research in humanitarian settings?

This section briefly outlines the particular power dynamics and priorities present in humanitarian settings.

## E) What are the challenges of co-production in practice?

This section explores the key challenges identified in the literature and from interviews, as well as mitigation strategies.

## F) What does co-production look like across the research cycle?

This section includes critical reflection questions to help you think about co-production at every stage of the research process.

## G) What have others learnt in implementing co-production principles?

This section distils lessons from research partnerships, presenting case studies on co-production.

## **Section A**

# What is co-production?

Co-production is a term that originated from the use of participatory methods in the provision of public services, originating from the work of Elinor Ostrom.<sup>3,4</sup> Underpinning her work is the notion that citizens can play a role in influencing goods and services directed towards them, through the process of co-production, which she suggested was a horizontal, equitable relationship between citizens and public officials.

The term co-production is now used not only to describe service provision, but also to help stakeholders rethink other power hierarchies, including those within research and knowledge production processes. Co-production is sometimes conflated with other terms such as co-design, co-creation, collaboration, or being participatory. There is no single definition for co-production: people may have different interpretations of what co-production involves. Many interview participants described co-production as being distinct from other commonly used terms such as collaboration, suggesting that co-production required more effort and focus.

"I think collaboration is the light-touch version of co-production." (Female, NGO practitioner, Africa).

"Often, a decision has already been made and it's already been sorted. They just want an opinion to tick a box to show that people have been consulted but called [it] co-production. In terms of collaboration, I suppose collaboration doesn't necessarily mean that power and decision making will be shared. You can collaborate on something, you can be involved in part of it, but you may not be involved in the overall decision making of the entire piece." (Female, practitioner, Europe). In this guide, based on existing definitions of co-production,<sup>5,6,7</sup> we use a simple definition to capture what co-production means during the research process. We have created this definition because other definitions tend to focus on only some key principles or take a service-delivery approach to defining co-production. For this guide, we have specifically defined co-production in research as follows:

Co-production in research refers to a horizontal partnership between researchers (both academic and non-academic) and active research participants to undertake research that can inform action. Co-produced research tackles unequal power dynamics, challenges existing knowledge production hierarchies, ensures more equal partnerships and shared decision making, emphasises reciprocity, promotes mutual capacity strengthening, ensures greater reflexivity and enables flexible ways of interacting and working across the research cycle.

Co-production represents a change from research as usual: it means intentionally engaging with the power hierarchies surrounding every step of the research process. It means shifting from normal ways of conducting research and deliberately doing things differently.

"An old mode of academic production was the god's-eye view, objective analysis of whatever the situation or the condition was ... at which point there was a truth that emerged from the academic and then was disseminated worldwide to interested parties. Co-production is an effort to try to move past that; a recognition that people shouldn't just be interviewed or subjects of analysis, but should actively be taking part in producing it." (Male, academic, Africa). "[C]o-production to me means the sharing of power and decision making throughout, and involving a mixed group of people to do a piece of research. By that, I mean not just researchers but actually members of the local community or patients, carers, and also, if we're talking about health research, health practitioners as well. Principles-wise, I would say that it's an approach that's very open and accessible to all." (Female, academic, Europe).

Our definition captures the seven key principles we feel best embody co-production within research. However, these principles are not necessarily new to research processes. For example, feminist research places emphasis on addressing power hierarchies between researchers and research participants, engaging in reciprocity and being reflexive. As another example, participatory action research places focus on ensuring research participants are actively involved throughout the research process. In fact, many research perspectives and disciplines endeavour to incorporate a few of these principles. Co-production is different, in that it draws together more than just one or two of these principles, representing a concerted effort to intentionally engage with unequal power hierarchies. It expands upon other research perspectives that seek to increase equity, by acknowledging power hierarchies at every stage of the research process.

Considering power at every stage is critical to coproduction. However, this does not necessarily mean that co-production must result in every principle being precisely achieved. We suggest that conceptualising co-production as aspirational offers greater potential for these principles to be realised. It is more helpful to think about co-production on a spectrum,<sup>8</sup> rather than co-production as an outcome. For some research projects, the appetite may exist to truly co-produce at every stage of the research, while for others, funding, resource and capacity constraints may mean only certain components are co-produced. We suggest co-production is not an all or nothing process, but may at times involve incremental shifts from traditional research processes. However, the extent to which coproduction principles are incorporated into research must be a collective decision, not one made by those who hold the most power and resources within the research partnership. Whether co-production principles are strongly or lightly incorporated into research, all stakeholders involved in the partnership should have a sense of ownership over each stage of the process.

"In a way, sometimes, co-production is more of a guiding light." (Female, academic, Europe).

"The point I want to make is that these researchers were doing some questionnaire design, something pretty conventional. I think their first participant gave a running commentary out loud as they were completing the survey, which the researchers found so interesting that they promptly incorporated that into the research design, and asked all the other participants to do the same. Now, that's one end of the spectrum because that's a very tiny spontaneous disruption that the researchers then adopted. That participant contributed to the research design, but not knowingly, not purposely. That's the smallest example I can think of."

(Female, researcher, Europe).

"Choosing when to do co-production is actually quite important I think when you don't have the luxury of doing everything in a co-produced way. You have to pick your moments about what parts are going to be fully co-produced."

(Female, NGO practitioner, Africa).

However, even if action is not deliberately taken to realise a co-production principle, there must at least be recognition of the unequal power hierarchies shaping the research process. We specifically draw attention to this because of the way the language of co-production may be appropriated to make it appear that research is coproduced. Like many other buzzwords that have come in and out of vogue, the language of co-production may be misused.

"I think you see a lot of virtue signalling in this process without addressing many of the problems that are going on." (Female, academic, North America).

Co-production recognises that power hierarchies undeniably infuse research: from who funds the research and develops the research question, to who is invited to participate in research and who is given the freedom to interpret the results. Those who have power within the research process may not, however, be the only ones with knowledge.

Co-production challenges traditional approaches to knowledge production that prioritise knowledge produced by academics. It suggests that a broad range of stakeholders and research participants themselves have important knowledge that should be used not only during data collection, but throughout the research process. It suggests that NGOs, who are often the ones who identify the research issue and who may also fund research, will also have important knowledge to contribute throughout the other stages of the research process. People with lived experience equally contribute valuable knowledge to the partnership: co-production values everyone's input equally.

## **Section B**

# Benefits of co-production

When academics, NGOs and communities work together to co-produce research, it can have a wide range of benefits, as listed below.

### Being responsive to community needs in humanitarian crises

Co-producing research expands expertise beyond academics, and may help centre research on the lives of people affected by and responding to crises. Doing so helps ensure research is relevant and responsive. Academic-NGO-community co-production on humanitarian issues can create greater understanding of the priorities and challenges facing local, international and academic stakeholders in humanitarian responses, with potentially far-reaching benefits. For example, if coproduction is carried out on a cyclical basis or over a long period of time, the findings can help communities and aid actors to anticipate recurrent crises (floods, cyclones, droughts, etc.) and strengthen resilience and response.

### Disrupting, challenging and changing long-standing power dynamics

Academics from Western universities have historically maintained a disproportionate share of power and resources, while subcontracting local researchers for tasks such as data collection. In a co-production approach, more equitable distribution of funding and power can help shift hierarchies of expertise and decision making toward local actors, in line with global commitments towards greater localisation of humanitarian responses.

#### Enabling greater dissemination and impact

Co-produced research often has the advantage of involving those living and working in the context under study, such as NGOs and local stakeholders responding to a humanitarian crisis. Their involvement from the outset helps ensure that the research is focused on issues of real, practical concern, and that findings are applied and used "If people genuinely understand coproduction and are fully embedded in doing it authentically, then they realise the benefits ... the work that you're doing ends up being much more practically applicable in the community in the long run. You're doing health research that is wanted by the community, that is relevant to the community, and that will have an impact on them."

(Female, practitioner, Europe).

to create real-world impact. This may mean that research at times moves into implementation and that academics may even find themselves engaging in advocacy.

## Establishing strong channels of communication, networks and partnerships

While the onset of humanitarian crises and response can be a challenging time to find new partners and forge partnerships, those with strong networks and existing partnerships can more easily activate them in order to respond promptly to new humanitarian crises. As the case study on earthquakes (see page 36) exemplifies, having strong pre-existing academic/NGO relationships can help enable an efficient, effective translation of evidence into response at the onset of a new humanitarian crisis.

#### Creating a virtuous cycle

As noted in the context of climate change,<sup>8</sup> co-production can create a so-called virtuous cycle in which investing in capacity to better co-produce research contributes to more relevant findings, more tailored communication, better understanding, use and benefit of findings, and increased demand for more high-quality research findings. Co-production offers opportunities for new ideas to emerge – for example, multiple participants mentioned that as a result of co-producing research together, other stakeholders went on to continue conducting research in a more participatory and equitable manner.

"We always believe that through collaboration you can really unlock opportunities. We just simply couldn't do the stuff that we do alone." (Female, NGO, Europe).

## **Section C**

# **Key principles** of co-production

We present several key, interlocking principles that are important to the concept of co-production. Many of these principles may be familiar to you as they often inform specific research approaches. We feel these principles best capture how co-production in research can occur, helping to address existing gaps/weaknesses within academic-NGO-community research partnerships. While this practice guide focuses on coproduction within research, the principles we identify as important for co-production may also apply to co-production within service delivery or policy development.



Principles of Co-production

## TACKLING UNEQUAL POWER DYNAMICS

In this guide, we position power as an important force that infuses the research process. Power, which can be understood as "the ability to direct or influence the behaviour of individuals and groups,"9 affects all aspects of research, and therefore is critical to how we think about power dynamics during research. Power is "not absolute, it is dynamic and relational ... it shapes almost everything."10 It can be affected by structures and identities such as gender, race, economic status, education, occupation and geographical location. It is held in place by social relations and access to resources. In this guide, we posit that tackling unequal power is a principle to consider in its own right, as well as a dimension that infuses the other principles that are part of co-production. In this sense, power is also a crosscutting issue; each principle we detail involves some consideration and challenge to existing power dynamics.

Within research, power dynamics manifest in myriad ways, including: who funds research and who controls the budget; who takes leadership over research; who makes decisions and how; whose voices are heard; what language is used and how; how participants are engaged and whether findings are communicated back to them; and authorship of outputs. Co-production of research on humanitarian issues raises particular challenges around power, including everything from historical and presentday power asymmetries between Northern and Southern partners to tension between technical knowledge and local experiential knowledge, and who has access to resources that ensure their safety and security in highrisk fieldwork sites.

"[I] usually tell the funders, 'You're not allowed to speak. I will tell you when you can talk. Otherwise no speaking, you can talk at the debrief at the end of the day.' I think the funder one [power hierarchy] is the one that I see most acutely and it's the one that's most obvious. It's the most obvious one." (Female, social enterprise, North America). "The editors [of a co-produced, special issue journal] were selected consciously to ensure that African voices were allowed to come out in the publications. These are the different, delicate decisions that are intangible, that are not simple. That these are conscious, soft decisions that we're taking, but jointly in collaboration [with the partners]. Without compromising quality, but painstakingly, but also it took a lot of time, allowing voices to be heard, but also balancing power."

(Male, academic, Africa).

"I must say, however, having the brand of [university name] also opens doors in these countries because it is a respected institution ... It's good I think to leverage that brand to open doors, but as individual academics in these institutions, we have to be very cautious about the dynamic, and also how you're perceived, and not using that brand to then dictate how things are done, because you're automatically more powerful in that setting." (Female, academic, Europe). "[I]n my experience, particularly over the last couple of years ... I am the power. I really try and work hard to listen to the voices of the less powerful within the organisation and we try and promote mechanisms that will give voice to the under-represented, to the early career researchers, to the women, to make sure that we respect the cultures of the communities that we're working in. I have no doubt that no matter how I try, people's attitudes change when I come into the meeting because I'm perceived as the person with the final say, as the principal investigator. I have no doubt about that and it means that no matter how much we try to level, to promote the ability of people to influence the decisions and to make decisions, ultimately there's an awful lot of deference to authority." (Male, academic, Europe).

Gendered power hierarchies extend beyond merely trying to ensure gender balance but relate to the expectations and assumptions made about women and men during the research process, which may relate to capacity, contributions and ultimately the value they each bring. Unequal power between men and women might result in men's decision making and knowledge being preferred over that of women. Race and disabilityrelated power hierarchies may also influence research processes, so it is important to consider these when tackling unequal power dynamics.

"I would say, before it was negatively affecting co-production because there was already an imbalance looking at the academics within the female category. You will find many academics, many professors, many associate researchers are all males. When you get one or two female in the group, they [the men] always think that they will not be capable to go at hard-to-reach areas, they'll not be able to suffer, climbing mountains, going down valleys, they'll not be able to really assess scientifically." (Male, NGO, Africa).

"I work with young women, sending them into the field when it's not their country and town. It is just extremely problematic often because women, for example my students, they go, bringing with them their own power, understanding, independence and all of that, and they're going into the settings where that's not how they're viewed at all. They're viewed as people with no power. They're young, they're often from a different ethnicity or nationality, whatever. It's a real problem and we've had problems like that. These are realities that have to be addressed. You have to be aware of that as a researcher, that not everybody values gender equality. Quite the opposite. It's an issue that gets in the way a lot, I think."

(Female, academic, North America).

"Even though we have senior leadership positions and international NGOs still tend to be hogged by people from the North, but I think it's a lot worse in academia. There's not a lot of diversity. You'd hope that researchers are conscious of that when they design grants, when they work with counterparts in the NGOs. It will seem odd to a lot of NGOs if your research team is all white or all white men, but academic institutions don't seem to be sensitive to that. I think it does affect the dynamic in a partnership in co-production because in a way, it could ... I could see how it could intimidate your in-country counterparts."

(Female, academic, Europe).

"[C]reating a co-production process that tries to level the playing field between the implicit power hierarchies that might exist is quite important for the success of the process. Especially in Africa, you tend to find that if you don't think about that, you just get men dominating the conversations, the women don't participate and you get a skewed idea of what's really going on ... You tend to find in most African contexts that women won't speak up as much, especially if their boss is male. It's a common problem. Splitting people up into smaller groups for discussions where they don't have to have their boss listening to every word and try not to have as much in plenary allows us to break down some of those gender dynamics and make sure that we're hearing from everyone. Also mixing it up all the time, so not keeping you in the same group so that if there is a power dynamic, it might've been for that one little group, but it's not going to influence every time you move around." (Female, NGO, Africa).

"The male questioning of female expertise is a key way in which patriarchy manifests itself, globally." (Male, academic, North America).

Co-production seeks to disrupt traditional power hierarchies between researchers and the researched, and between academics and NGOs who partner on research, to facilitate the more equitable distribution of power among stakeholders. Naming power dynamics and being able to discuss them openly and constructively is a first step, to be followed by deliberate action to address those that warrant change. Some ways of acknowledging and disrupting power hierarchies could be agreeing not to use titles, asking those not holding positions of power to share their ideas first, and encouraging contributions through various means (such as in writing, small group discussions) rather than larger meetings where some may not feel confident sharing or challenging ideas.

"I think people that have more power should really think of themselves as facilitators, listeners, rather than as a people that want to solve the problem. I think that's why also you don't want the more senior people because their careers are built on being the smart people that have the answers, and it's really, really, really hard to get out of that mindset." (Female, social enterprise, North America). "It's not just about the research design, it's about everything else. We need to sit down with people and say: 'Right. Well, here's the budget. How do we split it out between us, how do we share this and how do we make it work for the research and how do we make it work for us? ... Where are the power imbalances in this potential research team that we're beginning to convene and how do we address those? ... [W]hat is there around race, what is there around gender, what is there around homophobia, what is there around religion around and belief, what is there around all of these things, what is there around childcare?'" (Female, researcher, Europe).

Power dynamics "need to be acknowledged but cannot be managed away. Instead, it will be vital to allow for pluralism, create scope to highlight differences and, enable the contestation of interests, views, and knowledge claims."<sup>11</sup> It is also important to note that power hierarchies are complex and do not always operate from Northern actors towards Southern actors; within different contexts, power hierarchies may be felt at multiple levels.

"Within the Southerners too, there are many power imbalances within those teams too. It's not something you imagine, like everybody from Sudan is the same. Not at all. That's an issue that can really hijack the research if everyone isn't aware of that and recognising this. I do think that understanding these power differentials is something that should be brought up early on and talked about. It could be related to race, it could be related to income, but then also related to that often it's the Northerners who have all the resources, they have the funds."

(Female, academic, North America).

"We have worked with Kenyans, or Bangladeshis ... who are from those places, but are by no means in touch or particularly sympathetic to the poor or refugees that we work with. There's that issue which needs to be addressed. There are people also from those institutions [who] probably need to be incentivised somehow to try to speak globally. A lot of my colleagues ... across sub-Saharan Africa really see no interest in partnering with anyone outside of that area except for money. They're not interested in projecting their voices globally ... They work locally and that's where their money comes from ... If we really want equitable partnership, there has to be an incentive from both sides to do that."

(Male, academic, Africa).

It is important to keep in mind that the notion of creating equal partnerships "can obscure an intricate web of power dynamics that operate in practice."<sup>7,12</sup> We explore other challenges in addressing unequal power dynamics in co-produced research, including the risk of reinforcing inequalities, discomfort and tension that may arise when addressing issues around power, and challenges posed by organisational structures, in the challenges section of this report.

"By saying we co-produced this with refugees or trans women or whoever your group is, you hide the fact that it's still you who might be setting the agenda. It's still you who brings the resources, and maybe who controls how it's disseminated."

(Male, academic, Africa).

#### CHALLENGING KNOWLEDGE PRODUCTION HIERARCHIES

Critical to co-production is the recognition that some forms of knowledge have been excluded from academic research while others have been privileged.<sup>3</sup> This traditional knowledge hierarchy, which suggests that certain forms of knowledge are more objective than others, means that scientific knowledge may be valued over experiential knowledge.<sup>13</sup>

"Also we tend to find that academic or research or Northern views are sometimes prioritised and indigenous knowledge or local ideas sometimes are given a lesser footing in these processes. Trying to create more of a level-playing field where everyone feels empowered to speak up and to contribute effectively is actually quite a tricky and important principle for us." (Female, NGO practitioner, Africa).

"[T]he most important thing is the joint setting of the ambitions of the project so that everybody agrees where we're going. That very often, for me, is as an academic, it involves listening more than anything else. We do need to be clear about understanding what the challenge is from the perspective of the people who are facing the challenge. The academics very often are not directly involved with the problem that they're trying to contribute to the solution [for]." (Male, academic, Europe).

Co-production attempts to challenge this hierarchy, expanding "what counts as knowledge and whose knowledge counts."<sup>14</sup> Building on principles of participatory approaches, which have long been part of many disciplines, co-production seeks to make knowledge production more democratic, such that those who are sometimes merely seen as service users or beneficiaries are valued for their lived experience. Challenging knowledge production hierarchies is more than just "adding voices to an academic monologue"<sup>15</sup> but is about producing knowledge that is new and exploring how the interaction between different voices and different narratives contributes to knowledge. It is an important principle of co-production in research because it means valuing contributions of those with lived experience, not as research participants but as members of the research team. This challenges how power hierarchies have shaped processes of knowledge production.

"I also think it is really valuable to bring people, the representatives from these organisations. I think everyone reaches for the biggest name, the highest title. I want the big thinker, or I want the head of research, or I want the head of progress. Usually, I say, screw all that, bring the people that are actually doing the work because A, they have a much more intimate knowledge of what it's going on. B, they don't have the fundraising responsibility, the political representation responsibilities, whatnot and they don't have a big theory to prove or whatnot ... the groups that tend to be under-represented in these consortia are implementers, people that are generally doing this work, and what we call living experts, people with actual lived experience."

(Female, social enterprise, North America).

"They wheel in, they take some information from me, and they never come back. They're not interested in what I have to say or in me having a part to play. They just want the data and that's it. The research sometimes has a bad reputation of using people as participants and gathering the information they want, and then just dropping them. I had to do a lot of work to get people to understand that actually, this was a longer-term thing and we wanted to work together." (Female, practitioner, Europe). "[I]t's very easy to say, 'Oh, you participants are over there and I'm over here and I do this expert, clever thing I'm trained for and you just give me data. You're just repositories of data'." (Female, researcher, Europe).

In co-produced research, knowledge contributed by a community member is positioned at the same level of importance as key informants who might be gatekeepers or community leaders. In research in humanitarian settings, this means including a potentially diverse range of stakeholders as researchers and contributors, including people affected by crisis, local NGOs and civil society. When involving affected populations, valuing knowledge equally means moving past solely hearing the voices of key informants (who are often power-holders or tend to represent a male elite) but will require sensitive planning and outreach to ensure opportunities for the voices of women, of those without power, and of typically excluded groups like people with disabilities and people from ethnic minorities to be heard. This valuing of diverse voices and knowledge can disrupt the status guo and cause risks, including backlash from community leaders, which may need to be carefully considered and managed as part of the co-production process.

"[W]e are asking [service users], what are the right terms to use ... what are your suggestions to improve this? That gives us the sense that we are answering our target group's zeitgeist. We are not somewhere else and they are not at some other place. We are really working towards one aim." (Female, academic, Europe).

#### ENSURING MORE EQUITABLE PARTNERSHIPS AND SHARED DECISION MAKING

Making partnerships more equal and sharing decision making are at the heart of co-production. Whereas research often focuses on process and outcomes, by identifying equitable partnership as a principle we are recognising the importance of relationships in co-produced research. This principle is particularly important for co-produced research in humanitarian settings because partnerships in humanitarian response can be exclusionary, often driven by international actors who hold the funding, define the terms of work, assess the capacity of local partners, and focus on outcomes rather than process.<sup>16</sup> Power hierarchies structuring the delivery of aid also affect how research is conducted in humanitarian settings.

"[I]n co-production, everyone's a researcher, and everyone's an expert. Everyone has expertise to bring to the research. They may not have the same kind of expertise as each other." (Female, researcher, Europe).

"The idea is about collective ownership. Collective in a sense that all those who participated in it owning, and having influence over the research. Ideally, it is a more equitable form, less exploitative form of research production." (Male, academic, Africa).

Much of the existing literature and initiatives on partnership adopt "a somewhat simplistic idea of 'partnership' as a balanced relationship between two coherent and static entities engaged in a discrete and short-term collaboration framed by specific grants and projects rather than as dynamic/emergent research relationships."<sup>17</sup> The nature of co-production requires partnerships be seen as the latter: dynamic research relationships forming and evolving over time.



#### Forming partnerships during the COVID-19 response

An academic we interviewed described how a partnership with a network in a Northeast African country emerged in response to COVID-19. The cofounder of the network approached the academic and asked her to speak to community volunteers about COVID-19, as they had started running awareness campaigns about handwashing and social distancing, but did not feel people were listening. Upon further discussion, they decided it was important to do more than raise awareness, and decided to study why people weren't responding to the campaigns, with the intention of using the findings to improve the campaigns. They started the research without funding, but attracted attention of a donor in-country, who funded them for a series of studies and the implementation of the campaigns.

The partnership, formed in direct response to a need identified by the community network, drew on the unique skills and strengths of each partner. The academics provided technical research support. While the community network had never conducted research themselves, it was comprised of people with strong networks of their own, experience with community engagement on sensitive topics, and excellent communication skills. Yet because of their lack of research experience, the network was initially hesitant to be seen as an equitable partner, and looked to the academics for strong guidance on what to do. The academics pushed back, encouraging them to recognise and leverage their strong transferable skills to conduct the research. The key challenges they have faced have been specific to COVID-19: not being able to engage or conduct face-to-face trainings, connectivity issues and trying to work cohesively while conducting remote research in sites around the country. These have been somewhat mitigated by the community network being a nimble, motivated organisation, and over the course of the work the relationship between the academic and youth network has progressed into a very strong partnership. As a result of this research partnership, they found that lack of adherence to COVID-19 prevention strategies was linked to lower social acceptability of the practice of shielding. The study was able to identify ways of leveraging cultural and moral beliefs to ensure shielding was viewed as more acceptable.

In this guide, in line with the literature on co-production, we suggest that the foundation of fruitful, equitable partnerships is best formed by involving partners from the proposal phase, so that there can be joint involvement in key activities such as deciding the area of focus and methodology, budget, timeline, outputs and communication strategy.<sup>18,19,20</sup> Involving all stakeholders at the beginning of the research scoping process was a particular point that was also emphasised by multiple interview participants in our research: that being brought in after the research has been scoped out undermines the notion of co-production.

"Always look at the end product as something that is contributing to your partners. Never look at the commissioning or a study simply as a commission. Never see your partners as an instrument. Treat them equally the way that you want to be treated by others." (Male, NGO, Asia). "I think the main thing is to involve them from the early beginning.... No one would be happy to be on the receiving end of something that is already prepared and designed." (Male, academic, Europe).

The notion of being brought in too late was also tied to the practice of outsourcing data collection to local organisations, specifically the way this action is framed as being collaborative or even may be termed co-production. During interviews, some participants expressed criticisms of this kind of approach, suggesting this not an equitable research partnership, but could merely be referred to as subcontracting research. Indeed, a few interview participants described co-production in research that sounded more like subcontracting, for example consulting local organisations on research scope or asking them to contextualise data collection tools developed by someone working outside the region. "[A] partner ... [has] a ... cookie-cut prescribed product that they want. ... They'll ask about the structure of the data collection format. They wouldn't give us the reason behind it, they wouldn't bother about the philosophy of it. 'Just give me the data and I will train you how to administer the instrument.'" (Male, NGO practitioner, Asia).

"[S]omeone coming from UK also asked me, "[Name of participant], we need to work with you in research." My answer was that ... '[W]e don't want to be data collectors for your research.... [W]e want to be researchers with you, to collaborate with you, not just take [us] because we are in the field." (Male, NGO practitioner, Middle East).

Within co-produced research in humanitarian settings, valuing partnerships with communities means willingness to engage a diverse range of stakeholders, including people affected by crisis, local and national NGOs, as equal partners. The drivers and incentives for partners involved in co-produced research may differ, which is to be expected given different individual positionings and professional mandates. What is important is that the basis of the partnership and end goals are mutually agreed and defined, and that everyone benefits from being involved in co-production.

"At no single point, one should feel that there is a hidden agenda. If someone feels like there is a hidden agenda in the co-production, then it's gone. It's all gone. If someone just discovers, 'No, I was not told this. I was not told this.' It's just in the middle of project that this variable has sneaked in or they'll tell you that, 'No, just when I got at the field that I just realised that I should also check on this and this variable. It doesn't work that way.'"

(Male, practitioner, Africa).

Forming strong partnerships to co-produce research requires questioning and recalibrating roles and expectations for the duration of the partnership. This is particularly the case for academic researchers, who need to shift from being subject experts to partners, willing to learn from people who may have ample experiential knowledge and less or no formal education.<sup>21,22,23</sup> Levelling the playing field requires more than lip service, it may mean making a practical gesture or taking concrete action to value experiential knowledge. For example, ensuring that verbal and non-verbal communication is welcoming and creates space for those who might otherwise not feel as comfortable to share their experiences, or being open to different formats and leadership of meetings. This often means ceding power and decision making for the sake of a more equal partnership. It can be uncomfortable and may feel artificial at first to take this kind of approach, but it is a vital part of co-production. Equalising relationships also means thinking critically about the barriers to each party being on an equal footing, as well as understanding the value each stakeholder brings, without having to force their participation.

"I think that's why there's also often a question. Do you want everybody in the same room at the same time? I think people like the optics of it, people like the feeling of it. But is it actually the best-suited? Maybe not. I think very active and firm facilitation, and if you're able to stamp out those disruptors, you're able to pull out people that usually wouldn't participate. I think the prompts you get you can give a group questions that the people with the academic training just simply are not going to know. It's a lived experience type of question. I think there's ways to manage that. I think going in with a good sense of what everybody wants. Are there problematic actors in the room that might flip everything?" (Female, social enterprise, North America).

"There are some people who are happy to stand up in a meeting and make their voice heard, other people who won't even step foot in a meeting. There are some people who are dynamic leaders and others who want to contribute, but in a different way. I think a lot of the work that we do around setting up collaborative processes for design placemaking are about recognising different people will want to and be able to contribute in different ways within different contexts, within different formats. How do you create a tapestry of ways for people to contribute?"

(Female, NGO, Europe).

Ensuring the meaningful and active participation of communities in decision making as part of the co-production process may also require a mindset shift among communities themselves. Community members may not have previously been involved in similar partnerships or may not feel ready to take on these roles. Work is thus required to not only prepare academics/NGOs to cede decision-making power, but also to prepare communities to voice their needs and concerns.

"[T]hey [communities] still think that it's not their duties to do this kind of service. It's the duty  $\dots$ 

of a government."

(Female, academic, Asia).

Ensuring more equal partnerships also means: willingness to accept challenge and change as part of the partnership; establishing trust; respecting the capacity and contributions of all partners; and having strong methods of communication within the partnership. It also relates to how decisions are made within research. There may not be one final decision maker; rather within co-produced research, decisions are made collectively, with compromises being made by different stakeholders for the sake of maintaining the partnership.

"Even co-production needs management. It doesn't have to be hierarchical." (Female, researcher, Europe).

"[F]rom those who are here on the ground, if they are not strong enough, knowledgeable enough, they try to be just saying, 'Yes, yes, yes, yes, yes,' to what the other is bringing on the table and then at the end, you end up having ideas from one side and not ideas from the other side." (Male, NGO, Africa). "The key was that it's actually a capacity building exercise with the legal clinic, and that the legal clinic is actually leading sort of, not leading on the process, but working directly with an NGO and that students have a say in the process, they are attending court cases, they're doing the methodology, they're doing everything. For us it was the collaborative process that was much more important than the research outcomes per se. You're going to tell me, 'Yes, that might not be a very good example because here you compromise on the research outcomes to prioritise the collaborative exercise?' True, but this is also sometimes what you need to take into consideration when you want the collaborative process, because this is a collaborative process that takes into consideration the knowledge and the power between the two actors, so we choose something that is more balanced. We are more flexible in the timing, and then, eventually, we don't put pressure on them. This is how we can maintain the equal relationship, if you will. Yes, there's sometimes things that you need to do, in some way. We need to recognise the assets and the tools and the capacities of that in order to do so." (Male, NGO, Middle East).

At a practical level, equalising the relationship might mean thinking critically about the physical and social spaces used for co-production, and recognising that power hierarchies also shape the locations where co-production occurs.

"I would also say, and this is a classic one for engagement or involvement work, but you need to go out of your setting to where people are and not expect them to come into a university because it's an imposing place."

(Female, academic, UK).

"To me, a well-run co-creation or co-production process is one that really recognises and honours the fact that each actor coming to the table brings something unique and brings something really valuable. I think it is the job of whoever is convening or facilitating the process to be able to know all the dynamics, hurdles, challenges, whatnot that get in the way of these people being able to create, contribute equally together."

(Female, consultancy, North America).

#### EMPHASISING RECIPROCITY

Linked to the concept of an equal partnership is the notion of reciprocity between the different stakeholders who are co-producing research.<sup>24,25,26</sup> Co-production relies on reciprocity: an exchange of time, knowledge, and participation across all stages of the research process for mutual benefit. Having such an exchange can foster trust, respect, and responsibility-sharing. It can also incentivise future participation in similar research.

"What's the ask and what's the offer? ... One of our core principles of the [organisation name] is that the design process can be an empowering journey in its own right and can be an opportunity for people to gain skills and confidence ... That clarity about what you're asking of people, what is information gathering, what is contribution gathering, and then what do you give back? ... We're always exploring where's that balance of ask and offer and what are the roots and what makes it relevant and interesting for people to take part?" (Female, NGO, Europe).

"In some cases, it was like a fisherman would have to miss a day's catch to be part of the co-production process. Is it worth it for him economically? Can he afford to give up a day's work? Those are things I think people in the research community need to take a little bit more into consideration." (Female, NGO, Africa).

For reciprocity to work, it is essential that the distinct capacities and contributions of different stakeholders are valued. The term mutuality is sometimes used instead of reciprocity, describing "relationships that are more than the sum of their component parts. Its central idea is that both parties contribute and benefit – although usually in different ways – by combining their distinctive complementary contributions to the joint undertaking."<sup>27</sup>

"A lot of the time, we expect participants to just give their time for free. We also expect people to be part of something that then has an academic paper as an outcome. That has very little relevance to most of the stakeholders that you're engaging with. There's got to be something in it for them. There's got to be a stake in it for them. There's got to be some value in them attending." (Female, NGO, Africa).

"If people are contributing to research, they should be appropriately rewarded for doing that and not just expected to do it out of their own goodwill in their own free time, for the benefit of some imaginary future population."

(Female, researcher, Europe).

Reciprocity might look different at different parts of the research process. It may involve practical considerations like ensuring research participants feel they have received something back for their participation. When conducting research with reciprocity in mind, researchers should recognise that participating in research may be a heavy burden for people affected by crises, including those in protracted refugee settings.

"I think that in many places, in camps especially, one of the biggest problems that researchers face, [is] that some areas [are] horribly over-researched. For example, Za'atari Camp in Jordan is one of the most over-researched, and problematic research comes out of there, and so is some places like Uganda that are over-researched by people ... People are very fatigued from being asked these same questions by researchers. The same old stuff with no reciprocity, no payback, no nothing comes out of it ever." (Female, academic, North America).

"Go to where the people are and don't be in a rush, stay, hang out, get to know people, let them get to know you because it is all relational and personal, so wear your heart on your sleeve, be yourself and be honest, be kind, and help; wash the dishes, stick around, put the chairs away. Put your body into it as well as your mind. Provide practical help because these are usually situations where practical help is also needed."

(Female, academic, Europe).

"We have to do some creative stuff and we did things like bought them phone top-ups that were way bigger than they actually needed for the research and we bought them transport passes that had much longer time periods and much more reach on them. ... We bought lots of lunch when we have meetings at lunch and made sure they got loads to take home and it wasn't just curly [stale] sandwiches, we made sure. ... We'd say, "Oh look, there's packets of biscuits here. Take these." They knew. They were in on this, we worked it out with them, we didn't just do it to them." (Female, researcher, Europe).

Reciprocity does not necessarily imply a financial benefit. It can also mean inclusion within decision making, being supported with training opportunities, or creating channels of communication with aid actors to ensure the research influences policy and practice of direct relevance to the communities who took part (such as meeting unmet needs identified through the research). Thinking about actively ensuring reciprocity might also affect how authorship of papers is managed.<sup>28,29</sup>

"For the first year, we did pretty much nothing. It took a year of me and they getting to know each other, sussing each other out. That takes time to get to know someone on a deep level, so you really get them as a person. Going to see them a lot, chatting on the phone, going to events together, and then building a project helps to make sure that there's less of a cognitive gap when you're doing the project because then you know you're on the same page about why you want to do a co-produced research project rather than a top-down research project."

(Female, academic, Europe).

#### PROMOTING MUTUAL CAPACITY

#### STRENGTHENING

Capacity strengthening is an important concept for coproduction within research.<sup>10</sup> Capacity can be defined as the ability to contribute to co-produced research. In coproduced research, it is critical that each stakeholder, with their diverse knowledge, skills, experiences and views, is recognised as an asset capable of making a valuable contribution to the research. Capacity to contribute is not dependent on formal qualifications, educational background or job title. Rather, knowledge, education, experience, and training are highly contextualised, and in co-produced research this diversity is valued.

Framing capacity strengthening as mutual is a vital part of co-production. While the terms capacity building, capacity development and capacity strengthening are often used interchangeably, capacity strengthening is increasingly recognised as the most appropriate. This is because it recognises that increasing capacity does not mean building capacity from nothing, but rather strengthening existing skills, knowledge and ability.<sup>16</sup> Mutual capacity strengthening is a levelling principle, recognising that each actor can learn from the others and can expand their capacities in different ways. It is not about those with more resources and formalised education strengthening the capacity of those with less, it is about a willingness to have mutual interchange, learning and development.<sup>9,18</sup>

"I think that the assumption that we need to always build capacity and that there's no capacity, especially in Africa, is very misleading and insulting. I think there is plenty of capacity, but it's just that there's various challenges to it. A lot of the time, there's pockets of capacity, but they're over-utilised and they're just stressed out and don't have enough time or because of mandates or authorities of governments and the way things are ... power hierarchies, the capability that does exist isn't deployed properly. That doesn't mean that there's no capability existing."

(Female, NGO practitioner, Africa).

"I think as researchers, if we're doing coproduction, we need to think about having our own capacity strengthened, not about how we might strengthen the capacity of communities or individuals or participants, because again, that's the paternalistic model that I really would like to see us move away from. Yes, of course, that can happen too, but there's this principle of reciprocity. It's mutual, it's not one-way traffic. I feel quite strongly about that. I think if we're really doing co-production, we need to have that frame of mind."

(Female, researcher, Europe).

Capacity strengthening happens at different levels, including individual, organisational and community levels. Emphasis is often on one-off training for individuals to develop technical skills to meet the needs of the project. Yet what is often needed is longer-term efforts that focus both on technical and soft skills to improve people's capacity to do their job well and contribute to research beyond the scope of the project. Sustainable capacity strengthening also often requires strengthening systems, processes and organisations, as well as individuals.

It may be helpful for all of those involved in co-produced research to explore capacity early on (through a formal capacity assessment and/or informal interactions and team building) and explore how it can be strengthened. In research on humanitarian issues, local partners often have: extensive contextual and experiential knowledge; language skills; lived experience of the context being researched; better understanding of populations affected by crisis; relationships with key stakeholders; and access to people and areas important for the research. Local partners stand to strengthen the capacity of non-local partners in co-produced research. For these reasons, should extra capacity be needed outside the existing research team, it can be helpful to look for local and national partners to provide expertise and capacity in the first instance, rather than bringing in international trainers, consultants or capacity.

Capacity strengthening involves costs, including money, time and energy, and these should be factored into partnerships from the outset. Its value extends beyond skills development; it can be a way for partners to acknowledge and redress imbalances, including asymmetrical access to resources (financial, educational, training) and power. It can be seen as an important investment and gesture of partnership, particularly when it provides benefits beyond the immediate co-produced research.



## Mutual capacity strengthening between a local NGO and academic partner

The idea of mutual capacity strengthening was demonstrated by an example from an interview participant who works in a local NGO in the Africa region. His organisation partnered with a US university to co-produce research. Part of the process of capacity strengthening was the local NGO taking the time to explain the research context to the US-based academics:

"What we do is, before we start the research as such, we'll do a training on the technical aspect.... If we are going to do an education research, for example, we'll explain to the people the constitution, what it says in terms of education, the Ministry's education development plan, the budget, so that they have a clear picture of what education is at local level, at provincial level, at national level. We'll explain to them what is the hierarchy within the education system, from the division to the inspection to the ministry, provincial, national, to the inspectors, all that, so that they understand exactly the type of actors they'll be working with and the responsibilities with what everybody is responsible of and what are the limits of each individual."

This process enabled the local NGO to use their expertise on particular topics. The research here went beyond the typical approach of a university/research actor coming into a context to train people on the data collection tools, but ensured those usually not in positions of power also had opportunities to share their knowledge and expertise.

# Strengthening the capacity of displaced groups to conduct research

At times, capacity-strengthening activities can extend far beyond the scope of a single research project. An academic from a US university shared an example of her work among displaced communities in an Asian country. In order to reach multiple displaced groups, they used a range of local researchers of different nationalities, using this as an opportunity to strengthen capacity:

"We spent a lot of time at the beginning where we were training people to do the survey, but we didn't just see it as training people, we really saw it as building capacity in those communities... [W]e saw that as an opportunity also to build capacity in their own communities by having the researchers understand what it means to study your community, what it means to gather information about your community and how this information, you could use it beyond just our project."

By investing in the capacity of local researchers the intention was that these locals could lead future research in their communities, strengthening data on displaced communities in that context:

"It's easy to say and hard to do, but I do think that we were able to persuade people in our training group... that this is something they could take away afterwards and try to do in their own communities. That is a form of capacity building where studying your own community and gathering information about your own community is something you can do on your own without this Northern group coming in and doing it."

In this way, capacity strengthening can also be a more intentional, longer-term strategy to challenge existing knowledge production hierarchies.

#### ENSURING GREATER REFLEXIVITY

Reflexivity represents an important principle for co-production. Reflexivity within research means critically reflecting on all aspects of the partnership and research cycle, specifically thinking about how our positionality (our own background, culture, identity) and perspectives (assumptions, beliefs, worldviews) shape the research process.<sup>30</sup> This means recognising the blurred lines between our personal identities, preferences and assumptions, and the research process.<sup>31</sup> It involves thinking intentionally about methodologies, ethics and outcomes, especially analysing how unequal power hierarchies shape these dimensions within our research. While reflexivity is often viewed as a necessity in academia, our experience suggests that this practice is not implemented as consistently in NGO-led research. "The first thing would be to think twice about whether you're doing it simply because it sounds cool and sexy, or whether you're committed to the uncertainties of doing it, and are able to commit to the time and emotional energy required to manage what is effectively a quite intimate relationship with the groups of people."

(Male, academic, Africa).

In contrast to an evaluation or reflection at the end of a project, incorporating reflexivity throughout the research process enables stakeholders to explore interpersonal dynamics, points of tension and areas of opportunity as they emerge. Reflexivity "offers up the chance to be critical at every step of the way, rather than descend from god-like vantage points with a neat presentation of the answers or of what our research has 'revealed' of some pre-existing set of realities."<sup>31</sup>

"I don't think you can really collaborate well unless you acknowledge what people step into the room with in terms of power and what you would like them to step out of the room with and how the processes need to change a little bit to accommodate that." (Female, NGO, Europe). "I was a white global North researcher, which comes with its own points of privilege. I was also not only a member of this large NGO; I was a programme coordinator. There were multiple hierarchies that were overlapping in terms of my position there. On a very practical or material level, that meant that I ultimately was the one signing off on the budget for this whole project. I was the architect of this whole process. It's funny because I think in many ways, as problematic as it is, it was a dynamic that a lot of folks were comfortable with. A lot of the people participating in the project were comfortable with because that is the dynamic for how large humanitarian organisations interact with communitybased organisations... I think I probably could have tried to do more in retrospect to try to address those imbalances." (Male, academic, North America).

#### ENABLING FLEXIBLE WAYS OF INTERACTING AND WORKING

Reflexivity can be challenging, particularly reflecting on difficult or messy aspects of co-production, or thinking about the politics associated with research.<sup>31</sup> It challenges the idea that research is objective or neutral and embeds the researchers themselves within every stage of the research process. Reflexivity enables co-produced research to be informed and intentional, acknowledging power and recognising how the personal, whether we are aware of it or not, infuses research.

During interviews, a number of participants reflected on their own power and positionality within the research process, and specifically how their age, organisational affiliation, gender and race/ethnicity may affect how they are perceived and how others interact with them. Incorporating this type of reflexivity into the research process is a vital part of co-production. For co-production to occur, it is vital that stakeholders change from rigid or traditional ways of working, to more flexible, evolving means for partnering with each other. When stakeholders with different backgrounds, such as academics and local NGOs, work together to co-produce research, their differing mandates, incentives, ways of working, timelines and resources can pose challenges. Flexibility is vital in overcoming these. This might mean taking a more open approach to how interactions and decisions occur, and being willing to sacrifice structure and fixed timelines for a more flexible approach that recognises the different perspectives of each stakeholder. This may also mean, as multiple interview participants mentioned, being less concerned about the outcomes of the research than the process of the research, which can also be a challenge because of the demands on different stakeholders.

"I think projects tend to suffer when donors require very stringent outputs at the outset. They say, 'Oh, take a co-production approach, but you need to produce these results.' [chuckles] It doesn't give you much ability to actually use the co-production process for the benefit that it could have. Funders need to be a lot more flexible about co-produced projects and let the outcomes emerge." (Female, NGO, Africa).

Being flexible may mean being responsive to the research process as it unfolds, and adapting, abandoning or developing new plans if necessary. While the process of co-production encourages this, it is not necessarily easy. Recognising that each stakeholder works at a different pace is an important part of working flexibly. Compromises, particularly when one stakeholder feels they are receiving lower financial benefits than the others, can lead to resentment and may be difficult to manage when they challenge entrenched ways of working. Being tolerant of uncertainty, willing to learn and try new approaches, and honest about things that are non-negotiable can all help generate compromises that facilitate co-produced research.

"That consortia set up the process. They said, 'We don't know what we'll get out of the process, but we're setting up this process to have learning labs with different cities ... and to co-produce with them what we think are relevant outcomes.' Two years in, people were still like, 'What is the output going to be? We don't know.' I think a lot of people felt very uncomfortable. It puts people in a very strange space. Now, at the end of year four and going into year five, people say it's one of the best projects that has ever existed. ... It's created such strong relationships and people really know how to work together. It's influenced policies ... It has had great impact by taking this more humble approach of like, 'We don't know where we're going to go, because we're going to go where everyone tells us is the right place to go.' It's quite a different mindset." (Female, NGO, Africa).

At a more practical level, being flexible might also mean changing how decisions are made. A few participants expressed the need to shift from a top-down approach to running meetings, towards a more open, facilitated session that is more like a workshop. Facilitated sessions offer the opportunity for more voices to be heard and for more diverse perspectives to be included.

"We felt that a lot of the time the success of the co-production process was made or broken by the strength of the facilitators. In a lot of research projects, facilitation is still not really understood as a key skill. It's often still outsourced to others. That doesn't mean that researchers should necessarily be facilitators, but that good facilitation really makes [a difference], and conscious facilitation meaning that if it's someone who's really trying to look out for, 'Are we keeping the playing field level? Are we making sure all voices are heard? Are we living true to our co-production principles?' Having someone facilitate in that way is quite a challenge and isn't a skill set that necessarily everybody has or should have. Valuing that skill set and building more of it I think was seen as quite important." (Female, NGO practitioner, Africa).

## **Section D**

# What does coproduction look like in humanitarian settings?

Humanitarian settings present unique challenges for any research partnership, let alone co-produced research. Within protracted displacement or conflict settings, affected populations may experience research fatigue; conversely, some may be excluded from or unrepresented in research.<sup>32</sup>

Whether within long-term or shorter-term emergencies, conflict- and disaster-affected communities face significant challenges in meeting daily needs and accessing services, and the additional request of participation in research may feel like a challenging expectation.

"I think that IDPs [internally displaced persons] and refugees ... their basic trust system is shaken. For me, my understanding is that they could not control their lives. They are dropped from their houses, their gardens, their roots. Very often they don't have pictures. They grieve their pets. This is the grieving, disorientated.... They don't control. This loss of control very often translates into mistrust. If you cannot control yourself and your life so who.... Very often I remember especially [name of refugee population] just telling us, that the whole world is an enemy, everybody is an enemy. Imagine living in a world where you cannot trust anybody." (Female, academic, Europe).

"There's also hierarchies that just come from knowledge, that working with refugees, I can walk into UNHCR and ask them something, whereas a refugee will be locked outside on the street. I have access to information. I have access to insight in comparison, which people won't." (Male, academic, Africa).

"During [an] emergency, it's really difficult to do a research because people are in big problems, and they all look for support. They don't want to talk to you for other things...." (Male, NGO practitioner, Asia). "[I]f you're speaking to people who have been spoken to or been approached by different agencies over the course of however long, and everybody's asking them different questions about what they need, or what they think... [F]or me, that's a bit of ethical dilemma and a do-no-harm consideration that needs to be made in those sorts of situations, to make sure that you're not actually frustrating people and doing more damage to people by engaging them as part of a research process when they're already living in a completely, in a really challenging and stressful situation. I don't think that that's necessarily about co-production."

(Female, social enterprise, Australia).

It is also important to think through the politics and power dynamics around how the lives of conflict- and disasteraffected communities are described within research; assumptions made about these communities' lives may overly flatten complex experiences. For example, reinforcing stereotypes about refugees as perpetually stuck in limbo and always vulnerable may negate their decision making and power even during a state of flux, and result in research focusing on particular narratives of loss and lack to the exclusion of other issues. Alternatively, the opposite narrative of the so-called resilient refugee might also understate the constraints faced by refugee communities and result in a narrow focus on refugee agency/action within research. Either of these singular narratives may lead to assumptions about refugees that end up affecting the trajectory of the research, including research questions, analysis and recommendations. This highlights the importance of grounding any research on conflict- and disasteraffected populations within existing data on their lived experiences, without making assumptions and recognising that generalisations are not always helpful.

A couple of interview participants also discussed the fact that in conflict settings, data may be politicised or easily manipulated by certain actors, requiring researchers to also reflect on the consequences of focusing on particular issues or certain kinds of data. There may be a danger in accepting what is said by participants at face value, as they may also reflect certain power hierarchies or agendas. This can be particularly difficult to manage in co-produced research, when data collection and analysis is supposed to be supposed to be based on more equitable decision making. At times, as a few participants explained, this may mean not publishing certain data because of the consequences it may have on people's lives.

Organisations responding to humanitarian emergencies also grapple with competing priorities, short-term funding for research and implementation, and a constantly shifting context. Research may stretch limited financial and time resources. Humanitarian organisations are also shaped by and reinforce racialised, gendered and neo-colonial hierarchies in their engagement with communities.<sup>33,34,35</sup> The power held by humanitarian organisations stands in stark contrast to the challenges faced by communities they serve. Co-producing research with the involvement of people affected by crises, in which they are able to identify research priorities, determine appropriate methods, participate in data collection, analysis and communicating research findings, can help to rebalance this, but it can be challenging.

"There are hierarchies also of, say, a mental wellness in the sense that people are dealing with certain types of desperation, and frustration, and an existential precarity. They're looking at a short-term survival mode of living, whereas you have the luxury of long-term perspective, and strategic thinking, which I think in itself, that very temporality is a form of hierarchy." (Male, academic, Africa).

Partnerships with academic or research institutes may place additional strain upon those responding to humanitarian emergencies. Often, the pace of co-produced research may be different to the speed with humanitarian organisations often produce rapid assessments therefore managing and setting clear expectations becomes particularly important. Engaging the right actors within a humanitarian organisation is an important part of co-production, in order for decisions to not be viewed as top-down. It is also important to discuss risk, safety, and power hierarchies within the research team, particularly if local actors will be carrying out most of the fieldwork. The challenges and intricate power dynamics around access to conduct research in humanitarian crises should not be underestimated, nor risks to the researchers who use their networks to gain access; ultimately, those with the greatest experience living and working in the research setting should be those making decisions about what is feasible.

"Local NGOs, as much as we have a lot of contacts and acquaintances and friends, we are not always a good friend of governments, we are not always buddy-buddy with the military, nor we are hand in hand with the militia for example. We do need to deal with this hierarchy, and explaining the purpose of the study alone will take a lot of energy, a lot of courage. I wouldn't say that we have exposed ourselves to danger or hazard in doing that. I'm just saying that there are extra efforts. When a study says, 'Well, we need to have x number of high officials to collect data from,' they'd really have to start from the ground, go to the next official, get the endorsement... Then, of course, there are party lines that we are to reckon with, we have to observe when asking questions, when interpreting, and then there are times when the hierarchy of power would impose their own kind of interpretation or accountability." (Male, NGO, Asia).

"Partly, it has been because within these organisations, they actually have to sell research. We're dealing with headquarter offices. They have to sell the project to countries to get them to participate. Now, that hadn't been done prior to the project design. The design was mainly a headquarter discussion. The time it takes to get countries on board, engaged and willing.... We've had to be very patient and trying to support them in selling it. It really was essentially a marketing campaign. Saying, 'We have this project, this is how it could help you.' It feels like countries, unless they're convinced it will have a real impact on their day-to-day work without generating a lot of workload, so one of the first questions we get is, 'Is someone going to come and do this?' or, 'What do you expect from us' in countries. There's a lot of hesitance really to how much extra work is that going to generate for our staff, and how much resourcing will you bring, not in terms of money but in terms of competing for their time and attention of staff... In design, you need to engage the actual field sites you intend to design in and not just a representative of the organisation, at headquarter or regional level. Or at least just factor in the time it takes for those discussions to happen within an organisation to identify sites."

(Female, academic, Europe).

"[T]here's no sustainability and they [NGOs] don't continue to the end... Seeing the refugee camps like a guinea pig for organisations. They come, they try maybe the ideas that they have and they just leave...." (Female, academic, Middle East).

"I think it would be important to try to break free from the short-term funding cycle that humanitarian agencies are often bound by. I know that's easier said than done, but most large humanitarian organisations have money that's ... unallocated ... They have funding that could support something like this from one funding cycle to the next." (Male, academic, North America).

In humanitarian contexts, the challenge remains balancing the need for research with the need to respond swiftly to a crisis. Humanitarian actors struggle with this tension, which is made more challenging by limited research funding. At times, it may be more ethical to meet humanitarian needs rather than conduct research among conflict- and disaster-affected populations, while at other times it may be unethical to implement activities without being informed by evidence. Alternatively, conducting operational research or action research can be a useful way of bridging the research-implementation divide. "Especially when we are working with communities affected by conflict ... communit[ies] have many needs. They need to be supported: house building, water, school for children, and health caring and other needs. When we are researchers, we arrive in the affected community, we say, 'We can't help you people with something. We come only to do a research and our report can't help you.' There, it caused some problems and some person said, 'We can't contribute to your research. We need a humanitarian organisation here, not a research organisation.'" (Male, NGO, Africa).

"I think in general, finding funding to work in those settings is not easy because they're considered high-risk settings and many funders are not ... are quite risk-averse. They don't like extensions and changing project sites at the last moment and so on but that's the reality of research in these settings. You have to just put all the worst-case scenarios in place. You might lose your data. You might have to change project sites all kinds of things happen so that's one challenge...." (Female, academic, Europe).

# Co-production between local and international stakeholders in a conflict-affected state

A partnership between a UK university, a local NGO in the Middle East region and other key stakeholders involved in health-systems strengthening in Syria is using an embedded operational research design to ensure that (1) design of research activities is drawn from local priorities, (2) implementation of activities is locally owned and locally led, and (3) research activities benefit communities.

They have intentionally designed the research to ensure that data collection links to the interventions being carried out. Co-production in this project involved thinking beyond the academic focus on "how to generate, produce papers and research outputs", explained one interview participant. For his UK university, the focus was in supporting the work of humanitarian actors:

"We need to find a design that supports those humanitarian actors while doing this research, to keep doing the very critical and important work they do."

In so doing, this co-production process involved intentionally building in time to ensure that the research outputs translate into practice and policies. They have directly engaged communities even during the planning for the research, through workshops:

"I think this is very key because if you come to them towards the midpoint of the project where you cannot have the flexibility of changing anything. I think this would be very challenging, because they would be more reluctant to engage."

Engaging with humanitarian actors and communities at the outset is an important way of understanding each stakeholder's needs:

"Especially the people, community members they are really overloaded with the different needs that they have. The different actors that they collect data for either for funding purposes. They're really fed up with the data collection that they cannot see the implication of this. While if they were part of the design effort, this design reflects their midterm and long-term needs, the research activities could complement the health interventions they receive, and later the research outcome would inform better practices which will lead to better outcomes for those communities." (Male, academic, Europe).

## 🕀 Case Study

#### Long term NGO/academic partnership on disasters

We interviewed an academic (seismologist) and the emergency director of an INGO who had collaborated for over 15 years on disaster response. Rather than carefully planned, future oriented research, they began co-producing in response to the Indian Ocean and Haiti earthquakes. In Haiti in the immediate aftermath of the 2010 earthquake, the NGO director reached out to the academic for help, specifically regarding aftershocks. The academic gathered insights from his network of leading scientific advisors, and provided evidence and advice to the NGO director to inform real time decision making.

They spoke daily, with a sole focus on generating solutions to real problems as they unfolded. The collaboration went as well as it could, but both decided they needed a more systematic approach - to plan in advance how to respond when the next earthquake happened. They now had a clear sense of the operational issues, and secured funding to work on systematising a response. Part of this work involved honing a critical understanding of the science and differentiating between what was interesting from an academic sense versus what was realistic in practice. For example, while people who hadn't been through the Haiti earthquake may have thought a new, up-and-coming technique was appropriate, they recognised that it posed scientific challenges and opted to use older, more reliable techniques. They had a clear understanding of the operational risks, and risks that could be described in an academic paper took on a different - for them unacceptable - meaning knowing people's lives would be affected.

Speaking broadly about academic-NGO relations, the NGO director expressed his view that the scientific community is often more interested in the pursuit of learning and knowledge for its own sake than the practical application of research that would be of benefit to an NGO working in poor or vulnerable communities. He identified that NGOs find it challenging to know what evidence to access, who to trust if there are conflicting opinions, and how to weigh an academic perspective alongside others, in order to ultimately determine how evidence can be applied to help the poorest and most vulnerable in humanitarian crises. He said that for a seismologist, something imminent might be 100 years away, whereas NGOs operate on a much shorter timelines - he saw his capacity strengthening work as trying to engage academics on the reality on the ground for vulnerable communities. He felt that what differentiated the academic he worked with from others was his strong disciplinary focus combined with his commitment to use science to produce a positive impact for disaster affected populations. Reflecting on their work together over the years, the academic felt they developed a good understanding of each other's perspectives and ultimately had developed something useful, in a mutually respectful way. He is now leading a large research study, and feels the principles of mutual respect and academic listening honed during earlier co-production have contributed to its success.
## **Section E**

# **Challenges of co-production in humanitarian settings**

Some of the challenges of conducting research on humanitarian issues are the same regardless of whether the research is 'co-produced' or not. Such challenges may include accessing physically hard to reach or high-risk research sites; ensuring research is timely and appropriate in rapidly-evolving crises; and the significant practical and ethical considerations of involving participants affected by crises in research.

However, co-producing research can present additional challenges, many of which are related to power, partnership and investment (of time and finances). In their 2019 article, Oliver et al. explore the "dark side" of co-production in health research, identifying five types of challenges that can affect co-produced research (such as different priorities and values, disagreements and power being held by certain individuals) and their costs.<sup>36</sup> Williams et al. (2020) responded critically to this article, arguing "for greater scrutiny of the structural factors that largely explain academia's failure to accommodate and promote the egalitarian and utilitarian potential of co-produced research."<sup>37</sup>

The following section explores three key challenges for co-producing research in humanitarian settings identified by the people we interviewed and in the limited literature on co-production in humanitarian settings. While it is helpful to be aware of these when embarking on co-produced research, it is important to recognise that it may not always be possible to avoid or mitigate such challenges, and this is part of the research process. Indeed, challenges, particularly when responded to using the principles of co-production, can provide an opportunity to strengthen both research and partnerships.

The table on the following page summarises challenges for co-production in humanitarian settings and includes approaches to mitigate or resolve these challenges, which we have compiled from throughout the practice guide. The challenges are discussed in more detail below and elsewhere in the report.

Challenges of co-production in humanitarian settings	Mitigation strategy or solution
Lack of common understanding of what co-production is	<ul> <li>Establish a mutually agreed approach to co- production across each stage of the research at the beginning of the research.</li> <li>Identify where co-production principles can be implemented, and where it may not be realistic to implement these.</li> </ul>
Differing roles, responsibilities and timelines of NGO and academic partners	<ul> <li>Establish mutually-agreed ways of working at the beginning of the research, including decision- making processes, division of roles and timelines.</li> <li>Reach agreement on representational issues (e.g. authorship, branding) early on in the partnership.</li> </ul>
Time to receive ethics approval (particularly in rapidly-evolving humanitarian crises); NGOs not being familiar with academic ethics requirements	<ul> <li>Discuss ethics from the outset and apply for ethical clearance as early as possible.</li> <li>Make joint decisions around how the research will be conducted in a way that is ethical, and adheres to both formal guidelines and community norms and best interests.</li> <li>Explore opportunities for mutual learning and capacity strengthening around ethical issues.</li> <li>In the longer term, work with ethical review boards to facilitate changes in their approach to co-produced research.</li> </ul>
Actualising the principles of co-production	<ul> <li>Build in moments for reflection on co-production efforts during the research.</li> <li>Make a concerted effort to disrupt traditional power structures and draw on the unique strengths of those involved.</li> <li>Continue to check-in with each other and be willing to adapt and adjust roles, responsibilities and the direction of the research if needed.</li> </ul>

## LACK OF COMMON UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT CO-PRODUCTION IS

A key challenge identified in the literature and by those we interviewed is the sometimes-interchangeable use of the terms co-production, partnership and collaboration, and the misconception that subcontracting research to local or national actors is co-production. Multiple participants appeared unsure about whether a particular dimension of their research would be termed co-production and it seemed more common that certain elements of a project were intentionally co-produced while others were not, aligning with our conceptualisation of co-production as aspirational and incremental.

Differing understandings of what co-production means and involves is challenging because it can easily lead to confusion regarding roles, responsibilities and expectations. Researchers may underestimate what is required of them, or have unrealistic expectations of their partners. Establishing a mutually agreed approach to co-production at the outset of each project can help manage expectations and lay a strong foundation for the work, helping to identify the areas where the research can truly be co-produced as well as areas where it may not be realistic.

## DIFFERING ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND TIMELINES OF NGO AND ACADEMIC PARTNERS

Olivier et al. identifies "differences in roles, disciplinary backgrounds, organisational affiliations, objectives, and metrics of success, as well as the funding contexts of researchers and NGOs"38 as sources of challenges of NGO-academia research partnerships. Academics, for example, may face questions or criticism about the quality of co-produced research from colleagues sceptical about co-production. They may have practical challenges coproducing research involving complex research designs, such as RCTs, with non-experts.<sup>39</sup> This can require difficult trade-offs related to ensuring methodological rigour while conducting research aligned with the principles of co-production. Academics involved in co-production also face a significant recalibration of their roles, as they relinquish power, autonomy and expert status and embrace collective inquiry, shared decision making and different means of knowledge production.

NGOs may struggle to justify and balance investment in co-produced research alongside life-saving humanitarian programme work. They may not be able to access academic journals, may be unfamiliar with academic language and processes, and may gain more value from raw findings than peer-reviewed publications.<sup>21</sup>

While academics and NGOs may be united in the purpose of a particular co-produced project, they ultimately have different core priorities, reward and accountability structures, and professional incentives.<sup>20</sup> During interviews, academics discussed the pressure they face to publish in academic journals, whereas NGO practitioners discussed the tensions between completing research and implementing activities. Academics are often promoted based on authorship, especially being first author or sole author in some disciplines. This can pose challenges when joint papers are discussed, creating the possibility that NGO actors are relegated or left out of authorship of articles. Academics and NGOs also work with different timeframes. Academics may have to work according to school semesters and often have multiyear research cycles. NGOs' timelines are often shorter (linked to opportunities to influence policy or respond to immediate need), and their budgets may be timelimited and inflexible. Yet co-produced research can take longer than non-co-produced research, and require sufficient resources to support capacity strengthening and staff involvement for the duration of the research.

While these differences can pose challenges to co-production if left unacknowledged, perhaps more than any other type of research, co-production provides opportunities to redefine roles, incentives and priorities and find a way to answer research questions of mutual importance.

## ACTUALISING THE PRINCIPLES OF CO-PRODUCTION

Putting the principles of co-production into practice can be challenging. It is one thing to agree at the outset to principles such as tackling unequal power dynamics, reciprocity and ensuring more equal partnerships, but the reality of having to build trust and share power and resources can be confronting and complicated. As Flinders et al. write, "there is often a 'rhetoric-reality gap' between what is promised and delivered in self-styled 'co-production' endeavours."<sup>40</sup>

Research partnerships do not become equitable just because partners want them to be; they are created by navigating and negotiating the research process together. This may mean: overcoming differences stemming from language, communication styles, culture, values, risk tolerance; redefining roles and dynamics in pre-existing relationships; and explicit attention to issues of power and privilege as they arise. The latter is particularly important, as scholars have asserted that the process of co-producing research may in fact recreate, mask or increase inequality and power imbalances<sup>11,12,41</sup> when those involved depoliticise the co-production process and fail to challenge established research processes and power structures.

Numerous articles on co-production highlight the importance of acknowledging the potential messiness of it.<sup>19,26</sup> It is an imperfect process, rendered more so by the realities of building, breaching and reforming trust, disrupting and redistributing power, and making decisions on issues such as timelines and ethics across diverse cultures and institutions. It is important for researchers to recognise from the outset that conducting co-produced research on humanitarian issues is likely, at times, to be challenging and beyond their comfort zone. This does not mean that they have done it wrong; indeed, working through challenges is part of the process. As Miles et al write,<sup>19</sup> "It is important to illuminate coproduction 'messiness' and encourage continuous reflection throughout the co-production process to help improve understanding of how a co-production approach can be implemented and improved."

## **Section F**

# **Co-production across the research process**

It is important to think about co-production across each stage of the research process. This section outlines the critical co-production issues that may apply within each research phase, including key questions practitioners and academics should ask themselves.



Diagram: Research stages

## **IDENTIFY RESEARCH TOPICS**

Even in the identification of a topic for research, power hierarchies may be present. Different stakeholders (donors, NGOs, academics) may have particular interests in what should be researched. At times, the research topic may be prescribed by the donor or grant requirements rather than necessarily being something that is needed. In the identification of the issue, it is often those with power who make decisions and not necessarily the communities who are affected by the particular issue. At times, the topic to be researched may not even be a research gap, but may merely demonstrate current politics or in vogue issues within the sector. In contrast, co-production is about prioritising research that is actually relevant and important to communities, and reflects the issues that affect their lives. "Not to mention that in the height of humanitarian emergencies, people are being assessed to death with so many repetitive assessments, which many of us try to hold back of doing it. ... When we research on certain topic, we try to make sure that there are programmes related to this, that some information will be useful. Make sure that when we go to the community, we treat them with respect, and be ready to share some of, notwithstanding, interim results if necessary." (Male, NGO, Asia). The following questions help us in thinking about key issues related to the principles of co-production within the topic identification phase of research.

- · Who identified this issue/topic for research?
- Why is this issue important?
- To whom is the issue important?
- How might communities view the importance of this issue? How have their voices/perspectives been captured in identifying this research issue?
- Who funds the research? How does funding shape the identification of the research topic?
- How will the findings be shared and who will be the named authors/organisations?
- What might the practical and psychological impacts be for local researchers/participants who are contributing to co-produced research within a humanitarian emergency?

"We are experts in research and the others are experts in addressing and doing and implementing projects, but we're not meeting halfway to have a better impact on the life of people at the end. ... We have both expertise but we are not sitting together and talking about what is really needed."

(Female, academic, Middle East).

"I think a lot of the times the researchers go in with a very specific outcome in mind and then co-produce to get to that outcome, but taking the idea of, 'What does the community actually need?' takes longer but can be a lot more transformative in the long run." (Female, NGO practitioner, Africa). "We to need to sit down with people and say, 'Right. Well, here's the budget. How do we split it out between us, how do we share this and how do we make it work for the research and how do we make it work for us and how do we deal.... Where are the power imbalances in this potential research team that we're beginning to convene and how do we address those?"" (Female, researcher, Europe).

### **DEFINE RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

The selection of research questions also reflects power hierarchies between stakeholders. Communities who are affected by the issue or service users rarely have a say in the framing of research questions. It may be that the question itself is framed from an academic or theoretical perspective, or it may be shaped to meet the needs of an NGO. When this happens, the research questions themselves may not directly be relevant or important to communities.

"[I]t's very much the case that academics come up with a research question in their offices or talking to other academics or reading the literature or whatever. They develop a research question which they then import into wherever it is, the field site. Often that question can be quite misguided. It can miss the point because it just has to be localised and contextualised. Often academics think that they're running the show and that they know what the important questions are and they bring those.... That's a really important piece, giving more time at the beginning to prepare the research and to engage with refugees on what the right questions are. There's that. That the beginning of the research is to be prepared to change

the design and change the question. Even clearing with IRB [Institutional Review Board, an ethics committee], that's a problem, because you get IRB clearance to go in and do a research study. Then if you go in and try to change that study because you realise you're asking the wrong questions, you have to get IRB clearance again. It's a real problem. Not everyone can do this kind of work."

(Female, academic, North America).

The following questions help us in thinking about key issues related to the principles of co-production within the research question development phase of research.

- Who frames the research questions?
- What are the motivation and/or drivers behind the choice of research questions?
- What disciplines or perspectives are reflected and not reflected in the choice of research questions?
- Who funds the research? How does funding shape the identification of the research questions?
- What opportunities exist to include communities during the process of identifying research questions?
- When are meetings held to discuss the research questions, and do these meetings enable participation of all stakeholders?

"[I]t's sometimes more the practicalities of being inclusive. Thinking about what time of the day to hold the workshop, thinking about the mechanism. If it's all Zoom calls, can everyone access Zoom or are you going to need to provide data bundles to some people to be able to do that. Really thinking through the mechanics, I suppose, of how to create an inclusive environment is quite important." (Female, NGO, Africa).

### **IDENTIFY RESEARCH METHODS**

Particular disciplinary and methodological lenses may dominate the decision-making process on research methods and which participants are engaged using each method. For example, researchers who tend to implement large-scale surveys may prioritise research with heads of households, which can lead to the voices of older men being heard over other household members. Sometimes, research in humanitarian settings may prioritise the voices and perspectives of key informants: experts who are most often male or represent the elite in that society. These may be community leaders, religious leaders, government officials, UN agencies or other NGO specialists. If expert views are emphasised, this means that the perspectives of communities may be less visible. It also means the perspectives of women, people with disabilities, people who identify with a particular sexual orientation or identity, and people from minority ethnicities may be lower in priority, affecting the extent to which the research findings and implications are relevant to their lived experiences. Research methodologies thus represent an important moment where the principles of equality, inclusion, impartiality (important for NGOs) and participation can be promoted. Understanding who the stakeholders are and collectively identifying them was an important step associated with identifying research methods which interview participants mentioned. This may alter during the actual data collection process, however it is still important to reflect on these issues at this stage.

"Gender is a key issue, again, especially in conflict settings usually women they are not given the power to take part in different processes, including research or design. I think this needs to be filled carefully, how to encourage local partners or NGOs to empower women without having this confrontation with those NGOs. Introducing this as part of strengthening the design of the project, I think this would really help to ensure that as we're keen to consult local communities. We're keen to consult from other groups or the different groups of this community, including women or different age groups or different ethnicities." (Male, academic, Europe).

"From the researcher point of view, it's often fear, like fear of the unknown. We get a lot of people saying, 'Oh, but how do I reach that group? That's impossible,' and it's like, 'Go and talk to them.' It's a weird wall of what people would do in their everyday home life. They would chat with a person and have a conversation, suddenly, it becomes a really weird thing to do in a research situation." (Female, practitioner, Europe). "I think the first step is always mapping. Really understanding the context. The community we know is not a homogenous just lump of people. It is a whole, again, a tapestry of lots of different communities." (Female, NGO, Europe).

"I think you should give yourself more time to understand the context, whether it's a camp or an urban setting of some sort. It's an urban setting, a huge city like Cairo, you have to figure out where people are, who's where. You have to talk to locals who know what's going on. Really a strategy is giving yourself enough time in the beginning, a week or more, to figure out the story, the scene, and the context, and to go slowly. Feel your way into the city before you decide who the team should be, who your main guides, who the interlocutors should be."

(Female, academic, North America).

The following questions help us in thinking about key issues related to the principles of co-production within the identification of research methods phase of research.

- Who chooses the research methods?
- Why might certain research methods be prioritised over others?
- What disciplines or perspectives are reflected and not reflected in the choice of research methods?
- Who identifies research participants?
- Which groups or parts of the community are excluded as research participants?
- What opportunities exist for using more participatory methods or being more inclusive in the selection of research participants?
- What power does the field team have to change the research methods based on their experience conducting the research on the ground?

## Ethics approval for co-produced research

Interview participants from both local NGOs and academia highlighted the importance of discussing and agreeing on ethical issues as part of co-producing research. Ethics processes can be an opportunity to collectively discuss what is most appropriate in the local research context. As many local ethics review boards require partnerships with local actors, this can strengthen the inclusion of local actors in research. Interview participants also discussed challenges associated with obtaining formal ethical approvals for co-produced research in particular. Formal ethics approval processes were seen as sometimes contradicting the nature of co-production (particularly the flexibility and adaptiveness associated with using co-production principles during research). A similar point is made in an article by Beebeejaun et al.,<sup>42</sup> who critique how the existing model of research ethics considers communities as vulnerable subjects. They suggest that co-production can be helpful in reframing the relationship between researchers and "the researched" to create new ways of thinking about public value, instead of solely thinking about public harm.

"Then there's some other key things which might seem more peripheral, but they're not. Research ethics committees really getting in the way of co-production. That can be very difficult because research ethics committees have a real understanding of researchers and participants as very separate entities and a quite paternalistic approach to having to protect participants." (Female, researcher, Europe).

These challenges include the time it may take to receive ethics approval (particularly in evolving humanitarian crises), and NGOs not being familiar with academic ethics requirements or not having their own ethical review process. Participants noted additional challenges academic ethical review can pose for the implementation of co-produced research. One participant noted that one must receive ethical clearance to conduct a study, but given the iterative nature of co-produced research, if it becomes clear during fieldwork that you need to adapt or change your research questions or approach you must seek further ethical clearance, which can be problematic. Furthermore, while it is important to try to seek local or national ethics approval in the country where you are doing research, there may not be a local ethics committee in countries affected by conflict or crisis, or it can be a difficult, time-consuming bureaucratic process.

It can help to discuss ethics from the outset, to make decisions around how the research will be conducted in a way that is ethical and adheres to guidelines, and to explore opportunities for mutual learning and capacity strengthening around ethical issues.

"I've worked with NGOs for a long time and we used to do a lot of surveys like KAP [knowledge, attitudes and practices] surveys, nutrition coverage surveys, post-distribution monitoring. Every time, so as an epidemiologist, I'd always say can we seek ethics approval first. They say, 'No, no, no, we're not going to publish it, it'll take forever. We just need it for our programme and we're not going to violate anyone's rights', but then that means that you can't publish and you can't share it as widely as you'd like. You can't reuse the data in the future I feel like not getting ethics approval restricts you from sharing knowledge widely, but also highlighting how much research work is actually being done in NGOs because a lot of people think there isn't research, but usually there is, it's just not published and it's usually just internal."

(Female, academic, Europe).

"Yes, the ethic approvals. That is a headache. You easily get them there in the North, but here, you may easily spend three months looking for ethic authorisation. Either the person to give you that does not understand what you're talking about, either the person is absent, either they want you to pay money, either they want you to bring the project and then you bring the project and they don't get time to read it. That is a nightmare. IRB is a problem." (Male, NGO, Africa). "For example, there was the constraints about being in an institution and in academia. ... [Y]ou need everybody to comply. ... You send me the form and that becomes quite tricky, because when you want people to get into this process or you want them to happen spontaneously. In the case of [our research], we were in public space and we were inviting people to participate. If then you have to stand in the front of the project and say, 'Well, you have to sign me here and dah dah and dah dah dah,' people would say, 'No, no, thank you. What do you want my information for?' ... It's so subtle. It's so tricky to build this space that data protection and all this very technical stuff that are required as a researcher."

(Female, academic, Europe).

### **COLLECT DATA**

During the data collection period of research, it may not be possible to undertake the research in the way it was planned. This is particularly true in humanitarian contexts where rapidly-changing security situations and complex field realities may mean the data cannot be carried out as intended. This is perhaps most evident in the selection of research participants. The practical and logistical elements involved in actually identifying these research participants can be subject to power hierarchies. For example, if community leaders recommend research participants, these participants may not necessarily represent the voices of communities but may instead align with community leader perspectives. Or, where NGOs select research participants from existing lists of aid recipients/beneficiaries, those selected may feel obliged to present the NGO in a certain light, or indeed may have been selected because they represent a positive case study. At times, it may be the same individuals who have repeatedly been selected to participate in research. These selection processes raise important issues about power and ethics within the research participant identification process. Thus, thinking carefully about entry-points into communities is very important. While it may be convenient to identify participants through community leaders or religious leaders who we are already familiar with, this may exclude certain voices and groups in the community. While being aware of this is important, it might not be possible to deviate from established approvals and norms when trying to gain access to conduct research with communities.

During or just before data collection is also often when capacity strengthening occurs, and this activity has the potential to be a very top-down process instead of a mutual way of engaging across different stakeholders. The identification process for the locations and timings "The other problem here is who represents refugees. If you're going to a camp, how do you get a sense of who's representing the refugees? You can talk to an NGO who says, 'These people are very good. These are the refugees, so-called leaders,' but who knows who the leaders are really? The UNHCR says some people are leaders and NGO say others and refugees may disagree. It's really a problem. All of these issues have to be addressed in research."

(Female, academic, North America).

for data collection are also subject to power hierarchies, particularly gendered power hierarchies that reinforce women's position in certain roles, including caregiving responsibilities. These expectations for gender roles can constrain participation, making it difficult for women to meaningfully contribute to co-produced research. Thinking carefully about accessible locations for women and other vulnerable groups, as well as timings that do not limit participation for particular groups, is a vital part of ensuring data collection is truly participatory. "I think most people just don't even think about that when they're starting those processes. They think, 'Oh, well, I'll convene a meeting and it's open to everyone.' There, it's open, but it might be at a time that some people have caring responsibilities or are at work, it might be in a place that you can't get to with public transport, it might be some people can't afford to get there on public transport, all of those dynamics."

(Female, NGO, Europe).

Lastly, at the most practical level, power becomes very important when it comes to who actually conducts the fieldwork. Their positionality and the power they hold can shape how they conduct interviews, focus group discussions, or how they implement surveys. This, however, does not mean simply outsourcing research to the most vulnerable groups in an attempt to equalise power hierarchies, which may not change the power hierarchies that researchers are subject to or be the best course of action for the research. Additionally, in many settings, it may create different challenges for refugee researchers to conduct research among their own communities. Similarly, as noted by a few interview participants, emphasising a partnership with a local university, research institute or even NGO does not necessarily mean power hierarchies are equalised, because local individuals within these structures may also represent an elite of the community – those with higher socio-economic status and education. Within the category of local actor, there may be multiple power hierarchies.

"Researchers think they can get past these problems of research fatigue by recruiting refugees to work on their team, but that is not solving the problem. That's just like this little band-aid thing. It's the same thing you've been talking about. You're just using refugees to promote your research or to make your research look good. 'Oh yes. We have a team of refugees doing this.' Unless you've addressed some of the gender and power and other issues involved in this, that's nothing. That's not changing. It's not really co-producing."

(Female, academic, North America).

During the data collection process, equalising power between participants and researchers may also involve practical actions to make participation easier and respect the time of participants. For example, covering transport expenses or providing light refreshments for participants during the data collection can be a practical way of engaging in reciprocity. However, these efforts should be context-specific.

The following questions help us in thinking about key issues related to the principles of co-production within the data collection phase of research.

- · Which participants are ultimately involved in the research? Who was not included and why?
- Who manages the fieldwork logistics?
- · Whose capacity is strengthened, by whom?
- · What opportunities exist for more mutual capacity-strengthening processes?
- Who asks the questions during an interview, survey or focus group discussion? What positionalities and power do they hold?
- · What opportunities exist to engage in reciprocity during data collection?

## **ANALYSE DATA**

During data analysis, the power held by the people responsible for data analysis and write-up can reinforce inequalities. Often, the academic/research institution analyses the data, making meaning out of content that they may not have collected themselves. It is important to think about the background/positionality of people involved during this phase of the research, because perspective can be crucial in determining how data is interpreted. In the process of analysis, it can be easy for those doing analysis to generalise and simplify the findings, but this can flatten the complex experiences of research participants.

"I think that as researchers, humanitarian actors we tend to grab onto buzzwords and that's partly the influence of how the funding works. ... I think unless the stars align and you have folks who are from the affected population, but who are also ready and have the resources to engage in the process that participatory research demands, and that's very rare in an emergency setting, then I don't think it's going to happen. Maybe that's okay. Maybe there are other things that we can do. ... I think that improving qualitative analysis, putting more effort into doing rigorous qualitative analysis, is sometimes more important than trying to do a slapdash participatory process, that's not actually participatory. I say that because a lot of the qualitative analysis that I've seen coming out of humanitarian research is just like, 'Okay, here's what a bunch of people said.' It's just a long, hard-to-navigate list of excerpts of people, of interviews, and without really serious analysis of how that relates to anything else. I guess that that might be a bit harsh, but that's what I've seen in quite frequently. I think the time and space to really do this research when possible, and if that's not possible, not trying to conform to the trend of hitting the buzzwords." (Male, academic, North America).

Taking care in how analysis is done and including communities themselves in the analysis process, including validating the data, can help to address these issues.

"Once we already have the first draft information that is now about to be published, we'll go again to the community and explain to them that, 'This is what our final report will likely look like. Do you have information to add in? Do you have someone to come and explain in local language?' I've never seen a community that does not have two or three people who are quite well educated, that can take their time to read through the project and ask questions and ask more questions about how we did arrive to this type of conclusion. Finally, if they agree, if it's not a sensitive topic like security, sexual violence, we will also include them as the co-producers. They'll also be put on the final document." (Male, NGO practitioner, Africa).

Directly involving communities in analysis can be a means of challenging existing knowledge production processes. However, this is not necessarily an easy process, as demonstrated in the examples below. The majority of our interview participants talked about co-producing qualitative rather than quantitative research. The gap in studies reporting on co-produced quantitative research has also been noted in the literature.<sup>43,44</sup> Importantly, analysis of quantitative data also involves unique challenges for co-production, including the financial cost of software and capacity requirements. "[Q]uite commonly in co-produced research projects, normal people will do all of the interviews and the focus groups but then the data goes back to the university or whatever for the number-crunching and the qualitative analysis. I was like, how can we not do that? ... [H]ow can we do it together? We did things offline which worked really well like with post-it notes and lots of big sugar-paper drawing, listening to the audio recordings together and saying what particularly struck us or what we think is particularly meaningful in this conversation or what are they saying, but I failed to translate that into any collaborative, digital experience. I couldn't do – I was like, how can I use NVivo or some qualitative software with community researchers and that didn't work at all. That's just because it's hard to do qualitative data analysis, and also, it's like not everyone's interested in that thing. They like having a conversation in the community, but not the next step because they don't have the skills and training or necessarily desire for it."

(Female, academic, North America).



## Data analysis as part of co-production

One interview participant (female, researcher, Europe) shared her experiences co-producing during the analysis part of the research process, recognising that "being fully involved in all stages of the process" is the aspiration of co-production. There may be particular challenges associated with co-production during the analysis phase, however:

"[A]t the start, people often say, 'Yes, I'd love to be involved with all of it.' Then they get involved with planning the project, collecting the data. When it gets to analysis, and you sit down and explain what's involved, in my experience people.... That's where people tend to go, 'You do that. .... You do that bit. Come back and tell us when you've done that.' Because it's quite demanding."

Knowledge production hierarchies are difficult to dismantle and in fact may be intimidating for those who have previously held less power during the research process. The expectation that analysis is more technical, or can only be done by specialists may result in some stakeholders in a research partnership not feeling they can or should be involved during analysis.

This interview participant shared her experiences doing more collaborative analysis:

"I've only really worked with one group, who went through the whole process and actually did the analysis. I'm sitting on a pub floor teaching people to use NVivo on my laptop while our kids were playing around us. It was great. They did a fantastic job. They really wanted to and two of them went on to go to college, which I doubt they would have thought of doing before. More often when I've worked with groups on co-production... we've got the analysis bit and I was like, 'Right, how are we going to do this? Let's all get together and explain what's involved.' They go, 'No, that's too nerdy. You do it.' Which is fine.... I think with coproduction, maybe this is where it really breaks down, however hard you try, because people can drop out."

This example of conducting analysis with NVivo is perhaps more unusual. Manual coding and analysis of qualitative data using flipcharts and sticky notes which many NGOs use, or which are more accessible given the cost of qualitative software, may also provide opportunities for communities to be involved in analysis.

The following questions help us in thinking about key issues related to the principles of co-production within the analysis phase of research.

- · Who identifies themes and conducts analysis?
- · What positionalities and power are held by people doing data analysis and write-up?
- How are findings summarised and in what ways does the summarisation process flatten complex experiences of communities?
- · What opportunities exist to diversify the analysis process and include more perspectives?

#### **SHARE FINDINGS**

Power hierarchies of certain stakeholders may also become evident during the process of sharing the research findings. This relates not only to written outputs such as reports and articles, but also how findings are presented verbally, in terms of who presents the findings and how they describe the partnership and the contributions made by others. A significant challenge noted by a few interview participants was the fact that academics face very particular demands for what counts as a successful research output. The pressure to produce papers can stand at odds with the notion of co-production.

"That pressure to publish in the top-ranking journals of your field militates against involvement in co-production because the co-production brings in issues that the journals aren't interested in, and yet if I want promotion as an academic in a university, my REF [Research Excellence Framework] performance is one of the biggest things I need."

(Male, academic, Europe).

"In most cases ... you prepare with the communities, and you use the participatory tools to find information. You gather those, you prepare reports and details ... and you send it to the academic partner. Then, in many cases, you will find that in the final report, you are not recognised ... Oh, they are using only their name."

(Male, NGO practitioner, Asia).

"Also the very last thing I would like to mention is the tension value usually is found in academic environments, for example who's the one with published status, who's the first author, who's is the last author.... In very respectful and very powerful academic institutions in the Middle East, these are key issues. That usually either men or even sometimes women but men with more influence, or women with more connections. That they would marginalise the role of other people when it comes to having their names out, having their books published and I think this is very key. Also the NGO staff, they're less informed about this environment. That's why they might not be aware that they should be part of, for example co-authoring the work because they would be interested in doing the work rather than the outputs. I think these elements are really important to think about." (Male, academic, Europe).

Further, the final products of research, most likely reports or papers, often do not reach the research participants or communities who may be most interested in the findings and implications. Instead, it may be only those who are literate and have access to academic journals, or the network of the research team themselves who are able to access the research findings. Reports or journal articles are not the only products that may be associated with research. There may be opportunities to think more creatively to develop more accessible products including in-person feedback sessions, short videos, podcasts and webinars, which may be more relevant to the communities whose lives are most affected by the research.

"What we're trying to get better at doing is ensuring that there is a summary of the high-level outcomes of our research, that is then translated into local languages, and can be shared with community members, so that they do feel – they do then see the outcomes of the data that they have the information that they've provided."

(Female, social enterprise, Australia).

The following questions help us in thinking about key issues related to the principles of co-production within the data sharing phase of research.

- Who publishes/presents findings?
- Where and how are findings shared?
- How is the research partnership (including contributions of all partners) acknowledged in public forums and presentations?
- · Who has access to the final research outputs and who does not?
- What products are produced and what opportunities exist to develop more accessible and inclusive research products?



# Creating and disseminating a co-produced special journal issue

One academic we interviewed described the collaborative process of writing, publishing and disseminating a special issue of a journal. It started with initial discussions between the four key stakeholders (an African organisation, African academics, two universities and the publisher). The academic felt that power relations were equitable during these discussions, which focused on identifying what each stakeholder brought the partnership, their objectives, and defining the outcome and its intended relevance to policy, theory, and practice. Many discussions took place to come to a common agreement, and effort was made to ensure stakeholders felt a sense of joint ownership as the work progressed. A practitioner-policy dialogue was organised to explore their experiences and views on challenges and opportunities related to the research topic. This dialogue provided authors with context and data. The decision was made to prioritise African authors (both academics and practitioners) and peer reviewers, in an intentional effort to create space for those traditionally less represented in academic publishing:

"It was a painstaking effort if I'm being honest with you to support, to guide young upcoming African writers to publish, to be part of this. It was a conscious effort and a conscious decision."

Discussions around prioritising African participation were delicate and at times tricky – it took time to allow different voices to be heard and to find a good balance of power:

### "[W]e wanted Africans to peer-review these articles. We wanted African voices to be heard in the review of these articles."

From the outset, ensuring widespread access to the publication was a key priority. This was particularly important given how difficult it is for many Africans to access peer-reviewed articles:

"Even when those articles are written about them, even when those articles are making recommendations for them, they could not have access to these articles ... 'How are we going to be able to access this piece that you're talking about?' These were questions coming from the [name of organisation] colleagues who do not want to participate in this research and at the end of the day, it is going to be dumped at one of the peer-reviewed journals and then we might not even know the extent to which this is contributing to our work or whether we use it to improve our work."

Access to the articles was achieved, in part, by securing funding to make the publication open access. Importantly, however, those involved also recognised that they were unlikely to reach key stakeholders by asking them to download the special issue, so they printed and distributed over 500 copies to different ministries and organisations across Africa. The articles were also summarised and presented, and shared on various websites to increase reach. The research and recommendations pertained to Africa, and so decision making about dissemination was made at the African level, ensuring it would be appropriate and effective. This example illustrates the importance of engaging partners and stakeholders from the outset, the need to have discussions around power and priorities throughout the co-production process, and the value of developing a plan to disseminate the research in a way that is context appropriate.

# **Section G**

# Advice on how to coproduce research, from people who have done it

We asked the 32 people we interviewed, all of whom had experience co-producing research, if they had any advice for those about to embark on co-production. They shared a wide range of advice, which we organised thematically and summarised below.

## PLAN THE RESEARCH TOGETHER

### FROM THE OUTSET

While research is often conceptualised and planned by one stakeholder before research partnerships are formed, the most frequent advice participants gave was to plan the research together. One participant highlighted the importance of determining the research agenda with people who are directly affected by or responding to the topic of study. Another participant suggested forming partnerships as soon as the need or intention to conduct research is identified, then seeking funding together.

Planning the research together and having joint decision making and ownership over the budget from the outset can be a very effective way to rebalance power.

Activities that participants identified as being part of this planning process include:

- Determining the objectives and outputs of the research; developing a project; framework and governance structure; developing a theory of change;
- · Developing your research methodology and tools;
- · Identifying and meeting with stakeholders;
- Agreeing on roles and responsibilities;
- Anticipating risk and challenges and how they can be mitigated.

'However much you try and make a coproduction, there'll be a point where you're the budget holder and they're not, unless you are actually going to give them the budget. Are you going to give them the budget? Have a think about that. You might want to. That might make it really co-produced. Give them a budget and let them decide how much to pay you. When's that going to happen? I'm talking a lot about money, but money is a cypher for power or a symbol of power and it's a really important one and it's one we don't talk about enough in this context, I think." (Female, researcher, Europe).

One participant described how they approached this planning phase, emphasising the need to be open and honest, to know your red lines and also what you are prepared to compromise on. Another participant stressed the importance of being aware of challenges that may impact the project (such as a local election, high staff turnover), taking action to overcome them and maintaining focus on the overall objective. Clearly agreeing on the objectives of the research from the outset (will it have real-world impact, will it result in academic publications, will the data be used to inform humanitarian policy?) is critical, as is identifying how each stakeholder may benefit from their participation (remuneration, resources, networks, etc). One participant suggested going "a step further" and developing practical policy briefs from the research (female, academic, Middle East). Being open and transparent about these issues can help build trust and a solid foundation for a mutually beneficial partnership. The nature of the research and partnership will ultimately determine what is planned and formalised in advance, versus what evolves through the process of co-production. For some partnerships, particularly those involving organisations with rigid branding or a lengthy sign-off processes, it can be helpful to plan in detail from the outset to avoid potential conflict and delays at the end of the project.

## DEVOTE AMPLE TIME

Participants emphasised the need to give plenty of time to each phase of co-production: time to develop strong relationships rather than rushing to kickstart a project; extra time in case research is delayed (due to ethics, identification of field sites, etc); and time for reflection and learning. Speaking specifically on research on humanitarian issues, one participant noted that things change very quickly in the field during humanitarian crises, and it is important to take time between big emergencies to agree on general research priorities and start developing partnerships. Another participant noted the complexities of conducting research in areas affected by crisis, and the importance of taking time and working with local people.

"Especially in field settings like refugee camps – these are very complex places with complex dynamics and power differentials and all kinds of stuff going on, and you cannot just pop in and carry out a quick, ready study. No. That would be the main strategy, is giving yourself more time to figure out. Working with local people very closely and giving them power to make real decisions about how the research should go."

(Female, academic, North America).

### **BUILD TRUST AND BE INCLUSIVE**

Participants identified trust as an essential part of co-production, emphasising that it can be complicated to build, but important for successful co-production. This includes trust between partners that they are each capable of carrying out the agreed work to a good standard.

"Yes, we want to co-produce this, and yes, everybody is equal in terms of how we make decisions and things, but they realise that we want to move things forward and we've built trust between me and the people involved, so they allow me or give me the permission to go off and put things into action because they trust that I'll do that in the right way. That trust there is really important." (Female, practitioner, Europe).

Participants also suggested effort to include relevant stakeholders from the outset, and regular communication with them is maintained throughout the project, which can help mitigate the risk that the research is perceived as extractive.

## RECOGNISE CAPACITY AND FOSTER CAPACITY STRENGTHENING

Partners will bring different capacities to the table; part of making co-production successful is acknowledging, respecting, and drawing upon these different capacities. Participants noted the importance of respecting local knowledge and capacities, and in supporting the capacity strengthening of capacity at different levels.

## CREATE A SENSE

### **OF JOINT OWNERSHIP**

Participants noted the importance of ensuring that research partners, particularly those from Southern institutions, feel a sense of ownership over the research and findings, and translating them into policy or practice. One participant emphasised the role of language in this: academic or technical language may be intimidating or off-putting for some partners and participants, as can us-and-them language. Using inclusive, clear language and translation when appropriate can help foster greater dialogue, participation and ownership.

## RECOGNISE THAT RELATIONSHIPS AND PROCESS ARE AS IMPORTANT AS THE PRODUCT/OUTCOME

Many participants gave advice related to valuing, prioritising, and nurturing the relationships and partnerships developed through co-production.

They said:

"Always look at the end product as something that is contributing to your partners ... Never see your partners as an instrument." (Male, NGO, Asia). "It's bringing everyone together. This is for us sometimes more important than the outcome itself."

(Male, NGO, Middle East).

"We have a partner who invests really in us, and looking beyond the study itself, they regard us as potential partners.... Essentially going far above and beyond the core of the study, and thus we value this as a nurturing relationship."

(Male, NGO, Africa).

"It's just very difficult to underestimate how much investment and partnership you need to do. It's not enough to just rely on good intentions. You have to invest in the partnership and monitor your partnership, to make sure that it continues to be equitable throughout."

(Female, academic, Europe).

"The process is more important than the product. If you get the process right, you will get a good product and it will be something that people actually need and want and would use. If you focus only on the product, chances are you're going to miss a lot of the opportunities to really do something a lot more useful and transformational." (Female, NGO, Africa).

## EMBRACE THE CHALLENGES, MESSINESS AND JOY

Participants advised those embarking on co-production to embrace the process for what it can be: in turns, challenging, impactful and joyous. They emphasised the humanness of the process, of connecting with research partners, using emotional intelligence, providing practical as well as technical contributions.

They said:

"To me, co-production it's, as I said, very time-intensive, it's not easy, but there's so much it can bring and very rewarding. If there's one lesson, a final lesson to give is really that they shouldn't despair, that's normal. They will get frustrated but it's really worth the effort on both sides." (Female, academic, Europe).

"Be prepared to take your whole self along, not just your research, yourself. Be willing to use all of your skills and abilities and your emotional intelligence ... Do what you can to really equalise the process and be prepared and willing to do that, because that means being open to being challenged. That will happen, doing co-produced research, that will happen. Be prepared for joy and for humour." (Female, independent researcher, Europe).

"My advice number is, one, really start with humility. Know that we are all learners and that learning take different pace at different parts of the world. That humility will go a long way, and respecting your partners and treating partners really as fellow traveller who will step together. Number two, have spare energy, room and time to engage in real and genuine conversation on the meaning behind the words and numbers. Try to open your mind into different ways, different meanings of truths in the data. Be ready to have different interpretation. Be wise enough to accommodate and listen on different opinions."

(Male, NGO, Asia).

# **Further resources**

The following resources may be helpful if you have decided to conduct co-produced research and are looking for checklists and practical guidance for how to get started.

Beier P, Hansen LJ, Helbrecht L, Behar D. A How-to Guide for Coproduction of Actionable Science. Conserv Lett. 2017;10(3):288–96.

Davies R, Andrews, H, Farr, M, Davies, P, Brangan, E, Bagnall, D. Reflective questions to support co-produced research Version 1.2. National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) ARC West and People in Health West of England; University of Bristol and University of West of England.; 2020.

Farr M. Power dynamics and collaborative mechanisms in co-production and co-design processes: Crit Soc Policy [Internet]. 2017 Dec 13; Available from: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0261018317747444?journalCode=cspa</u>. [See p.639].

Roper, C, Grey, F, Cadogan, E. Co-production: putting principles into practice in mental health contexts [Internet]. 2018. Available from: <u>https://healthsciences.unimelb.edu.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0007/3392215/Coproduction\_putting-principles-into-practice.pdf</u>. [See Appendix A-C].

# References

- 1. Roepstorff K. A call for critical reflection on the localisation agenda in humanitarian action. Third World Q. 2020;41(2):284–301.
- 2. Pincock K, Betts A, Easton-Calabria E. The rhetoric and reality of localisation: refugee-led organisations in humanitarian governance. J Dev Stud. 2020;1–16.
- 3. Bell DM, Pahl K. Co-production: towards a utopian approach. Int J Soc Res Methodol. 2018;21(1):105–17.
- 4. Ostrom E. Crossing the great divide: Coproduction, synergy, and development. World Dev. 1996;24(6):1073-87.
- Campbell H, Vanderhoven D. Knowledge that matters: Realising the potential of co-production [Internet]. N8 Research Partnership & Economic and Social Research Council, ESRC. 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.n8research.org.uk/media/Final-Report-Co-Production-2016-01-20.pdf</u>
- 6. Filipe A, Renedo A, Marston C. The co-production of what? Knowledge, values, and social relations in health care. PLoS Biol. 2017;15(5).
- 7. Beebeejaun Y, Durose C, Rees J, Richardson J, Richardson L. "Beyond text": Exploring ethos and method in coproducing research with communities. Community Dev J. 2014;49(1):1–17.
- 8. Carter S, Vincent K, Visman E, Waagsaether K. Co-production in African weather and climate service [Internet]. 2019. Available from: <u>https://futureclimateafrica.org/coproduction-manual/downloads/WISER-FCFA-coproduction-manual.pdf</u>
- 9. Redman-Maclaren M, MacLaren DJ, Harrington H, Asugeni R, Timothy-Harrington R, Kekeubata E, et al. Mutual research capacity strengthening: A qualitative study of two-way partnerships in public health research. Int J Equity Health. 2012;11(1):1–12.
- 10. Roper C, Grey F, Cadogan E. Co-production: putting principles into practice in mental health contexts [Internet]. 2018. Available from: <u>https://healthsciences.unimelb.edu.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0007/3392215/Coproduction\_putting-principles-into-practice.pdf</u>
- 11. Turnhout E, Metze T, Wyborn C, Klenk N, Louder E. The politics of co-production: participation, power, and transformation. Curr Opin Environ Sustain. 2020;42(2018):15–21.
- 12. Farr M. Power dynamics and collaborative mechanisms in co-production and co-design processes. Crit Soc Policy. 2018;38(4):623–44.
- 13. Green G, Johns T. Exploring the relationship (and power dynamic) between researchers and public partners working together in applied health research teams. Front Sociol. 2019;4:1–10.
- 14. Rose D, Kalathil J. Power, privilege and knowledge: the untenable promise of co-production in mental "health." Front Sociol. 2019;4(July):1–11.
- 15. Gillard S, Simons L, Turner K, Lucock M, Edwards C. Patient and public involvement in the coproduction of knowledge: reflection on the analysis of qualitative data in a mental health study. Qual Health Res. 2012;22(8):1126–37.
- 16. Barbelet, V. As local as possible, as international as necessary [Internet]. Humanitarian Policy Group, Overseas Development Institute; 2018. Available from: <a href="https://www.odi.org/publications/11238-local-possible-international-necessary-understanding-capacity-and-complementarity-humanitarian">https://www.odi.org/publications/11238-local-possible-international-necessary-understanding-capacity-and-complementarity-humanitarian</a>
- 17. Fransman J, Newman K. Rethinking research partnerships: evidence and the politics of participation in research partnerships for international development. J Int Dev. 2019;31:523–44.

- 18. Vincent K, Carter S, Steynor A, Visman E, Wågsæther KL. Addressing power imbalances in co-production. Nat Clim Change. 2020;10(10):877–8.
- 19. Miles S, Renedo A, Marston C. 'Slow co-production' for deeper patient involvement in health care. J Heal Des. 2018;3(1):57–62.
- 20. Schoen V, Durrant R, Fishpool M, Dooris M. CSO-academic collaboration: theory and practice [Internet]. Food Research Collaboration Policy Brief; 2017. Available from: <u>https://foodresearch.org.uk/publications/cso-academic-collaboration-theory-and-practice/</u>
- 21. Aniekwe CC, Hayman R, Toner A. Academic-NGO collaboration in international development research: a reflection on the issues [Internet]. 2018. Available from: <a href="https://www.intrac.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Academic-NGO-Collaboration-in-International-Development\_September-2012.pdf">https://www.intrac.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Academic-NGO-Collaboration-in-International-Development\_September-2012.pdf</a>
- 22. Shannon R, Hope M, McCloskey J, Crowley D, Crichton P. Social dimensions of science-humanitarian collaboration: lessons from Padang, Sumatra, Indonesia. Disasters. 2014;38(3):636–53.
- 23. Coutts,P. The many shades of co-produced evidence [Internet]. Carnegie UK Trust; 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.carnegieuktrust.org.uk/publications/the-many-shades-of-co-produced-evidence/</u>
- 24. Gallagher M, Dineen R. Seeing is believing: co-production case studies from Wales [Internet]. 2016. Available from: <u>https://info.copronet.wales/co-production-catalogue-from-wales-seeing-is-believing/</u>
- 25. Hickey G, Brearley S, Coldham T, Denegri S, Green G, Staniszewska S, et al. Guidance on co-producing a research project [Internet]. NIHR Involve. 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.invo.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Copro\_Guidance\_Feb19.pdf</u>
- 26. Willis P, Almack K, Hafford-Letchfield T, Simpson P, Billings B, Mall N. Turning the co-production corner: methodological reflections from an action research project to promote LGBT inclusion in care homes for older people. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(4):1–16.
- 27. Wallwork E. Ethical analysis of research partnerships with communities. Kennedy Inst Ethics J. 2008;18(1):57-85.
- 28. Smith E, Hunt M, Master Z. Authorship ethics in global health research partnerships between researchers from low or middle income countries and high income countries. BMC Med Ethics. 2014;15(1):1–8.
- 29. Sukarieh M, Tannock S. Subcontracting academia: alienation, exploitation and disillusionment in the UK overseas Syrian refugee research industry. Antipode. 2019;51(2):664–80.
- 30. Polk M. Transdisciplinary co-production: designing and testing a transdisciplinary research framework for societal problem solving. [Internet]. 2015;65:110–22.
- 31. Orr K, Bennett M. Reflexivity in the co-production of academic-practitioner research. Qual. Res. Organ. Manag. 2009; 4:85–102.
- 32. Omata N. 'Over-researched' and 'under-researched' refugees. Forced Migr Rev. 2019;61:15-7.
- 33. Agier M. Managing the undesirables: refugee camps and humanitarian government. Cambridge: Polity; 2011.
- 34. Fassin D. Humanitarian reason. A moral history of the present. Gomme R, translator. Berkeley: University of California Press; 2012.
- 35. Hyndman J. Managing displacement. Refugees and the politics of humanitarianism. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press; 2000.
- 36. Oliver K, Kothari A, Mays N. The dark side of coproduction: do the costs outweigh the benefits for health research? Heal Res Policy Syst. 2019;17(1):1–10.
- 37. Williams O, Sarre S, Papoulias SC, Knowles S, Robert G, Beresford P, et al. Lost in the shadows: reflections on the dark side of co-production. Heal Res Policy Syst. 2020;18(1):1–10.
- 38. Olivier C, Hunt MR, Ridde V. NGO-researcher partnerships in global health research: benefits, challenges, and approaches that promote success. Dev Pract. 2016;26(4):444–55.
- 39. McConnell T, Best P, Davidson G, McEneaney T, Cantrell C, Tully M. Coproduction for feasibility and pilot randomised controlled trials: Learning outcomes for community partners, service users and the research team. Res Involv Engagem. 2018;4(1):1–11.

- 40. Flinders M,Wood M, Cunningham M. The politics of co-production: Risks, limits and pollution. Evid Pol. 2016;12(2):261–79.
- 41. Piquard B, Delft L. Valuing local humanitarian knowledge: learning from the Central African Republic. Forced Migr Rev. 2018;59:59–61.
- 42. Beebeejaun Y, Durose C, Rees J, Richardson J, Richardson L. Public harm or public value? Towards coproduction in research with communities. Environ Plan C Gov Policy. 2015;33(3):552–65.
- 43. Voorberg WH, Bekkers VJJM, Tummers LG. A systematic review of co-creation and co-production: embarking on the social innovation journey. Public Manag Rev. 2015;17(9):1333–57.
- 44. Goldsmith LP, Morshead R, McWilliam C, Forbes G, Ussher M, Simpson A, et al. Co-producing randomized controlled trials: how do we work together? Front Sociol. 2019;4.

#### London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom

www.lshtm.ac.uk

f @LSHTM

- 9 @LSHTM
- 🖸 @LSHTM
- in lshtm.ac.uk/linkedin
- Ishtm.ac.uk/study/blogs
- Ishtm.ac.uk/youtube

